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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
主席報告及管理層討論及分析

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Group Results

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Oriental 
Watch Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”), I hereby present you the audited 
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 
March 2025 (the “Year”).

In 2024, macroeconomic challenges reshaped consumer 
behaviour in the luxury market. Rising geopolitical tension 
and f luctuat ing interest rates fuel led market volat i l i ty, 
straining household f inances and curbing spending. A 
sustained property sector slump in major economies eroded 
household wealth, together with r ising unemployment, 
further heightened financial caution, shifting demand to 
essentials and reshaping luxury purchasing trends. As a 
result, the Group’s performance was adversely impacted, 
with revenue decreasing by 5.2% year-on-year (“yoy”) to 
HK$3,450 mill ion (2024: HK$3,639 mill ion). In l ine with 
the decrease in revenue as well as the cost inflation from 
brand pricing adjustments, gross profit declined by 5.6% 
yoy to HK$1,086 million (2024: 1,151 million), with gross 
profit margin dropping to 31.5% (2024: 31.6%). Profit 
attributable to owners of the Company decreased by 20.0% 
yoy to HK$200 million (2024: HK$250 million), which was 
mainly attr ibutable to a one-off impairment charge for 
impairment loss for right-of-use assets and property, plant 
and equipment of HK$25 million and margin pressures from 
rising operating costs. Excluding the one-off impairment, the 
adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company would 
be HK$225 million (2024: HK$250 million).

In recognition of shareholders’ continued trust, the Board 
has resolved to recommend a final dividend of 4.2 HK cents 
per share (2024: 5.8 HK cents) and a special dividend of 
12.5 HK cents per share (2024: 17.2 HK cents) for the 
year ended 31 March 2025. This decision underscores the 
Board’s confidence in the Group’s resilient business model, 
long-term strategy, and dedication to shareholder value.

管理層討論及分析

集團業績

5.2% 3,450,000,000
3,639,000,000

5.6% 1,086,000,000
1,151,000,000
31.5% 31.6%

20.0% 200,000,000
250,000,000

25,000,000

225,000,000
250,000,000

4.2
5.8 12.5

17.2



4 Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
主席報告及管理層討論及分析

業務回顧

41
1

Business Review

As at 31 March 2025, the Group operated 41 retail points 
( including associate retai l  stores) in the Greater China 
region, along with 1 online store in each of Mainland China 
and Hong Kong respectively. Breakdown of retail points by 
geographic region is as follows:

As at 
31 March 2025
於二零二五年
三月三十一日

Hong Kong 11
Macau 2
Mainland China 26
Taiwan 2

 

Total 41
 

In terms of Mainland China market, GDP growth moderated 
from 5.3% in Q1 to 4.6% in Q3 2024 but rebounded strongly 
to 5.4% yoy in Q4 to achieving the Central Government’s 
annual target of 5.0%, while in particular, the high-end 
luxury watches market were affected due to their sensitivity 
to consumer sentiment, showcasing the volati le market 
environment in 2024. According to the Federation of the 
Swiss Watch Industry FH, Swiss watch exports to China 
experienced a sharp drop of 25.8% yoy in 2024, highlighting 
the industry-wide challenges. Although the China GDP 
rebounded in Q4 2024 with government stimulus measures, 
these were insufficient to offset the luxury market’s downturn 
in the short term. However, despite the aforementioned 
challenging market, the Group continued to focus on client 
retention and establishing boutique stores to further enhance 
service quality, led to a modest revenue increase of 1.8% to 
HK$2,617 million (2024: HK$2,571 million) for the Group’s 
Mainland China operation.

In Hong Kong, the shifting consumption patterns, strong 
Hong Kong do l la rs  and s low tour ism recovery  have 
continued to put pressure on the retail market. According 
to the Hong Kong Census and Stat ist ics Department, 
total retail sales for 2024 declined by 7.3% yoy in value to 
approximately HK$377 bill ion, a sharp reversal from the 
16.2% growth in 2023. It is worth noting that the retail sales 
of jewellery, watches, clocks, and valuable gifts experienced 
a stronger decline of 14.5% yoy during 2024. Affected by 
the market sentiment, revenue of the Group’s Hong Kong 
operations decreased by 19.8% to HK$757 million (2024: 
HK$944 million).

5.3%
4.6%

5.4% 5.0%

FH
25.8%

1.8% 2,617,000,000
2,571,000,000

7.3% 377,000,000,000
16.2%

14.5%

19.8% 757,000,000
944,000,000
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
主席報告及管理層討論及分析

The Group continues to place strong emphasis on prudent 
cost management and operational efficiency, with particular 
focus on rental expenses, which represent a majority of 
its expenses. The Group prioritises quality over quantity, 
strategically closing high-rent yet underperforming stores. 
At the same time, the Group continues to collaborate with 
brands to establish boutique stores in premium locations. 
With the opening of new stores opening and the higher 
turnover rent in l ine with the increase in sales from the 
Main land China operat ions,  the Group’s aggregated 
expenses related to lease increased by 6.4% yoy to HK$215 
mil l ion, accounting for 26.5% of the overal l  operat ing 
expenses (2024: 24.9%).

Alongside managing rental fees, inventory control is a 
cornerstone of the Group’s financial strategy. The Group has 
adopted a disciplined replenishment policy for high-ticket 
products, only restocking when the inventory falls below 
predefined thresholds. However, with the establishment 
of new boutique stores, inventory levels slightly increased 
by 5.2% yoy to HK$466 mill ion (2024: HK$443 mill ion). 
Nevertheless, the inventory position has improved since 
mid-year, demonstrating the Group’s ongoing efforts to align 
stock levels with market demand while preserving liquidity.

Prospects

As 2025 progresses into its second half, ongoing market 
uncertainty is likely to continue affecting the luxury watch 
industry. According to the Federation of the Swiss Watch 
Industry FH, the amounts of  Swiss watch exports to 
Mainland China and Hong Kong have continued to decline 
by 22.5% yoy and 11.9% yoy, respectively, in the first 
quarter of 2025, reflecting the broader economic challenges, 
painting a cautious market outlook for the near future. 
Despite these headwinds, the Group remains focused on 
optimising its store network and operational efficiency to 
elevate service quality and brand recognition. The Group will 
also strengthen landlord relationships to secure favourable 
lease terms. While vigilantly monitoring geopolitical and tariff 
risks, which currently have minimal operational impact, the 
Group will maintain prudent cost management.

By enhancing service quality and leveraging its robust 
brand portfolio, the Group is well-positioned to navigate 
evolving market dynamics. The Board remains committed 
to balancing growth, ensur ing premium serv ices and 
sustainable shareholder returns amid industry challenges.

6.4% 215,000,000
26.5% 24.9%

5.2% 466,000,000
443,000,000

前景

FH

22.5%
11.9%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
主席報告及管理層討論及分析

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s tota l  equi ty  reached 
HK$1,755 million, compared with HK$1,796 million as at 31 
March 2024. The Group had net current assets of HK$1,307 
mil l ion, including bank and cash balances of HK$836 
million as at 31 March 2025, as compared with balances of 
HK$1,208 million and HK$899 million respectively as at 31 
March 2024. At 31 March 2025 and 2024 the Group had no 
bank loan and the gearing ratio (defined as total bank loan 
on total equity) was nil.

Management considers that the financial position of the 
Group is healthy with adequate funds and unused banking 
facilities.

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s sales and purchase transactions are primarily 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The 
Group does not face any significant risk from exposure to 
foreign exchange fluctuations.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, our Group employed approximately 
581 employees in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China, 
of whom approximately 62% were based in Mainland China.

Our employees’ compensation packages include basic 
salary, commission, annual bonus, medical insurance and 
other common benefits. They are structured by reference 
to the nature of their posts, experiences and performance, 
and are reviewed annually based on the Group’s objective 
performance appraisal system.

The Group has allocated significant resources to provide 
t ra in ing programmes to  employees to  improve the i r 
services to customers. The management team has used 
results of a “Mystery Shoppers Programme” conducted 
by an independent consultancy firm to tailor-made training 
programmes for specific shop and at individual level.

財務回顧

流動資金及財務資源

1,755,000,000
1,796,000,000

1,307,000,000
836,000,000

1,208,000,000
899,000,000

外匯風險

人力資源

581
62%
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
主席報告及管理層討論及分析

The Group has  a l so  deve loped a  se r ies  o f  t ra in ing 
programmes for senior executives with diverse topics ranging 
from leadership, personal development and effectiveness, 
task and team management. These programmes enable our 
senior executives to improve their management skills and 
bring in innovative ideas to the Group.

The Company has adopted a share award scheme relating 
to award of shares of the Company purchased by the trustee 
or the administration committee of such scheme out of fund 
paid by the Company to eligible persons including directors 
and employees of the Group. The scheme enables the 
Group to offer valuable incentive to attract and retain quality 
personnel and other persons to work to increase the value 
of the shares of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
董事及高級管理層

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. YEUNG Him Kit, Dennis, aged 55, joined the Group in 
1993. He became Managing Director and Chairman of the 
Company in March 2003 and February 2021 respectively. He 
holds a Bachelor Degree in Commerce from the University of 
Toronto, Canada. Mr. Yeung is the brother of Madam Yeung 
Man Yee, Shirley.

Madam YEUNG Man Yee, Shirley, aged 63, joined the 
Group in 1991. She received a Higher Diploma in Business 
Studies and Diploma in Watch and Jewellery Management 
from North Herts College in the United Kingdom and CFH 
Institute in Switzerland respectively. Madam Yeung is a sister 
of Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis.

Mr. LAM Hing Lun, Alain, aged 66, joined the Group in 
1992. He is the Finance Director and Company Secretary 
of the Company and became Director of the Company in 
April 2003. He is responsible for the Group’s accounting, 
financial control and secretarial matters. He has over 38 
years’ experience in accounting and auditing. Mr. Lam 
holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from the 
University of Hull. He is a Fellow Member of the Association 
of Chartered Cert i f ied Accountants and an Associate 
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certif ied Public 
Accountants. He is an independent non-executive director 
of CN Logistics International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 
2130), which is l isted on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. CHOI Man Chau, Michael ,  aged 69, is a Fel low 
Member of  the Inst i tute of  Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Mr. Choi has been practising public 
accountancy in Hong Kong for over 33 years. He has been 
an independent non-executive director of the Company 
since September 2008.

執行董事：

楊衍傑先生 55

楊敏儀女士 63
North Herts College

CFH Institute

林慶麟先生 66

38
University of Hull

2130

蔡文洲先生 69

33
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
董事及高級管理層

Mr. SUN Dai Hoe Harold, aged 62, was appointed as an 
Independent Non-executive Director in March 2022. He 
holds a Master of Administration degree from The University 
of British Columbia, Canada. He was the Chairman of the 
Federation of Hong Kong Watch Trades and Industries 
Limited from 2017 to 2019 and has been i ts Advisor 
since 2020. In addit ion, he has been the Chairman of 
Qualifications Framework, Watch and Clock Industry Training 
Advisory Committee since 2022, a member of Hong Kong 
Productivity Council’s Watch and Clock Technology Centre 
Management Committee since 2016, and was a member 
of Hong Kong Trade Development Counci l ’s Watches 
and Clocks Advisory Committee from 2016 to 2020. In 
Singapore, Mr. Sun was the Vice-President of Singapore 
Clock and Watch Trade Association from 2010 to 2017 and 
an independent non-executive director of Saizen REIT, which 
was listed on the Singapore Exchange from 2007 to 2017. 
He has over 33 years of experience in the marketing and 
distribution of watches. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited (stock 
code: 0131), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, since March 2022.

Mr. SIN Nga Yan, Benedict, aged 61, is a director and 
general manager of Myer Jewelry Manufacturer Limited. 
He is a fellow of CPA Australia, a solicitor of the Supreme 
Court of New South Wales, Australia, the Supreme Court of 
England and Wales and the High Court of Hong Kong. He 
is the Chairman of Trust Fund Investment Advisory Board of 
Customs and Excise Service Children’s Education Trust Fund 
of Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department. Mr. Sin is 
also a member of Committee of Overseers of Wu Yee Sun 
College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a member 
of The Council of The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong 
and a member of Hospital Authority, Hospital Governing 
Committee of Hong Kong Eye Hospital & Kowloon Hospital. 
Mr. Sin is an independent non-executive director of King 
Fook Holdings Limited (stock code: 0280) and Miramar Hotel 
and Investment Company, Limited (stock code: 071), both of 
which are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

孫大豪先生 62  

 — 

Saizen REIT

0131

冼雅恩先生 61

0280
071
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
董事及高級管理層

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Sze Wing, Kenneth, aged 60, is a director of 
our PRC subsidiaries. Since 1 April 2022, his responsibility 
has expanded from overseeing the Group’s operation in the 
PRC to cover those in Hong Kong and Macau. He joined 
the Group in 2013 and has over 31 years’ experience in the 
watch business.

Mr. LAM Tung Hing, aged 67, is the General Manager 
responsible for overseeing the retail operation in Hong 
Kong. He joined the Group in 2003 and has over 45 years’ 
experience in the  watch business.

高級管理層

陳仕榮先生 60

31

林東興先生 67

45
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standard 
of  corporate governance as i t  bel ieves that effect ive 
corporate  governance pract ices are  fundamenta l  to 
enhancing shareholder value and safe guarding interests 
of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company has 
accordingly adopted good corporate governance principles 
that emphasize a quality board of Directors (the “Board”), 
effective risk management and internal control, stringent 
disclosure practices, transparency and accountability to all 
stakeholders. It is, in addition, committed to continuously 
improving these pract ices and inculcat ing an eth ica l 
corporate culture.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company 
had complied with the code provisions prescribed in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in 
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules except for the deviations 
explained below in the relevant paragraphs.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Mode set out in 
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct 
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having 
made specific enquiry, all Directors as at 31 March 2025 
have confirmed compliance with the required standard set 
out in the Model Code during the year under review.

企業管治常規

C1

董事之證券交易

C3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

THE BOARD

Corporate Strategy

The primary objective of the Company is to enhance long-
term total return for shareholders. To achieve this objective, 
the Board set strategies and directions for the Group’s 
activities with a view to achieving sustainable recurring 
earning growth and maintaining the Group’s strong financial 
profile. The section headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” contains discussion and analysis of the Group’s 
performance for the year under review and strategies for 
achieving its future plans.

Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for 
performance of the Company, is responsible for directing 
the strategic objectives of the Company and overseeing 
the management of the business. Directors are collectively 
charged with the task of promoting the success of the 
Company and making decision in the best interest of the 
Company.

Board Composition

At 31 March 2025, the Board comprised six Directors, 
including the Chairman and Group Managing Director, 
Group Finance Director, an Executive Director and three 
Independent Non-executive Directors. On 12 June 2024, 
the Board appointed Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. 
Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section 
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 8 
to 10. The composition of the Board is well balanced with 
each Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or 
expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

For a Director to be considered independent, the Board 
must determine that the Director does not have any direct or 
indirect material relationship with the Group. In determining 
the independence of Directors, the Board fol lows the 
requirements set out in the Listing Rules.

董事會

企業策略

董事會之角色

董事會結構

8
10
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis is both the Chairman and Group 
Managing Director of the Company. He has been the Group 
Managing Director of the Company since March 2003 and 
took up the role of Chairman on 10 February 2021 after Dr. 
Yeung Ming Biu, the former Chairman, passed away on 5 
February 2021. The Board considers that he is the most 
suitable person with the necessary experience to provide 
leadership to the Board as well as to manage the day-to-day 
operations of the Group. As the Chairman, he is responsible 
for the leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in 
all aspects of its role and for setting its agenda and taking 
into account any matters proposed by other directors 
for inclusion in the agenda. Through the Board, he is 
responsible for ensuring that good corporate governance 
practices and procedures are followed by the Group.

As the Chief Executive (Group Managing Director), Mr. Yeung 
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s 
business.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year under review (except for the period from 
25 March 2024 to 11 June 2024), the Company had three 
Independent Non-executive Directors representing over one-
third of the Board. Dr. Li Sau Hung, Eddy, an Independent 
Non-Executive Director, passed away on 25 March 2024 
and the Company appointed Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict 
as Independent Non-Executive Director on 12 June 2024 
to comply with Rule 3.10(1) of the List ing Rules. One 
Independent Non-executive Director has the appropriate 
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial 
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the 
Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it still considers the Independent 
Non-executive Directors as at the date of this report to be 
independent.

主席及行政總裁

獨立非執行董事

3.10(1)
3.10(2)



14 Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

Board Meetings and Practices

The Board meets regular ly,  and at least four t imes a 
year. It also meets on other occasions when a board-
level decision on a particular matter is required. Between 
scheduled meetings, senior management of the Group 
provides information to the Directors on a regular basis 
on the activities and development in the business of the 
Group. Throughout the year, Directors had participated in 
the consideration and approval of routine and operational 
matters of the Company by way of circulation of relevant 
mater ia ls,  supplemented by addi t ional  verbal/wr i t ten 
information or notification from the Company Secretary and 
other executives as and when required. Details of material or 
notable transactions of subsidiary companies are provided 
to the Directors as appropriate. Whenever warranted, 
additional Board meetings are held.

The Directors receive details of agenda items for decision 
and draft minutes of meeting in advance of each Board 
meeting. With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the 
Directors receive written notice of the meetings at least 14 
days in advance and agenda with supporting Board papers 
no less than 3 days prior to the meetings. With respect 
to the other meetings, the Directors are given as much as 
notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.

Any Director wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or 
her duty may take independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense. Directors are encouraged to update 
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through 
their initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and 
Committee meet ings, and through meet ings with key 
members of the management.

董事會會議及常規

 

 



Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   15   Annual Report 2025  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the composition of 
the Board and the attendance of the Directors at meetings 
held are set out below:

Board  
Meetings

2024  
Annual  

General  
Meeting

董事會會議

二零二四年 
股東 

週年大會

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis (Note)  –  
Chairman and Group Managing  
Director

 — 

4/4 √

Madam Yeung Man Yee, Shirley (Note) 4/4 √

Mr. Lam Hing Lun, Alain –  
Group Finance Director

 — 
4/4 √

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael 4/4 x

Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold 4/4 √

Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict 4/4 √

Note:  Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis and Madam Yeung Man Yee, 
Shirley are brother and sister.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

Training and Commitment

The Company provides continuous professional development 
(“CPD”) training and relevant reading mater ials to the 
Directors to help ensure that they are apprised of the latest 
changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment 
in which the Group conducts its business and to refresh 
their knowledge and skills on their roles and functions as 
directors of the Company. The Directors complied with the 
requirements under the code provisions of the CG Code 
in respect of CPD for the year ended 31 March 2025. In 
addition, Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael and Mr. Sin Nga Yan, 
Benedict participated in CPD programs required by the 
relevant professional bodies respectively while Mr. Sun Dai 
Hoe Harold has participated in CPD programs provided by 
external organizers.

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 have 
provided to the Company with details of the CPD training 
undertaken by them during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lam Hing Lun, Ala in, is 
responsible to the Board for ensur ing that the Board 
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently 
and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved 
through the adherence to proper Board processes and the 
timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors and 
Board Committees comprehensive Board agendas and 
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board Committees 
are prepared by and maintained by the Company Secretary 
to record in sufficient details the matters considered and 
decisions reached by the Board or Board Committees, 
including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by 
any Director. All minutes are sent to the Directors and are 
available for inspection by any Director upon request.

培訓及承擔

公司秘書
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring that 
the Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and 
corporate governance developments relating to the Group 
and that it takes these into consideration when making 
decisions for the Group. Further he is directly responsible for 
the Group’s compliance with all obligations under the Listing 
Rules, including publication and dissemination of annual 
reports and interim reports within the periods laid down in 
the Listing Rules, timely dissemination to shareholders and 
the market of announcements and information relating to the 
Group and assisting in the notification of Directors’ dealings 
in securities of the Group.

The Company Secretary advises the Directors on their 
obligations for disclosure of interests in securities, connected 
transactions and price-sensitive information and ensures 
that the standards and disclosures required by the Listing 
Rules are observed and, where required, reflected in the 
annual reports of the Company.

In relation to connected transactions, regular seminars 
are conducted for executives from business units within 
the Group to ensure that such transactions are handled 
in compliance with the Listing Rules. Detail analyses are 
performed on all potential connected transactions to ensure 
full compliance and for Directors’ considerations.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are 
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws 
of the Company. Whilst the Company Secretary reports to 
the Board through the Chairman and the Group Managing 
Director, al l members of the Board have access to the 
advice and service of the Company Secretary. Mr. Lam Hing 
Lun, Alain has been the Company Secretary of the Company 
since 1992 and is also the Group’s Finance Director.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are published 
in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The responsibil it ies of the external auditors about their 
financial reporting are set out in the auditor’s report on 
pages 82 to 87.

Financial Statements

The  D i rec to rs  acknow ledge  the i r  respons ib i l i t y  f o r 
preparation of the financial statements of the Company 
to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair 
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in prepar ing the f inancial 
statements, the Group applies appropriate accounting 
policies that are consistently applied and makes judgements 
and  es t ima tes  tha t  a re  reasonab le  and  p ruden t  i n 
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group 
keeps accounting records which disclose the f inancial 
position of the Group upon which financial statements of the 
Group could be prepared in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policies.

問責性及核數

董事就財務報告須承擔之責任

 
82 87

財務報表

會計政策

會計記錄
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Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and 
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within the 
Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquires, consider 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparation 
of the financial statements.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The Board, being satisfied with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
(“Deloitte”) in respect of the audit fees they charged, the 
process and effectiveness of their audit, has resolved to 
recommend their reappointment as the Company’s external 
auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

During the financial year, the services provided by, and the 
associated remuneration paid to, Deloitte were as follows:

HK$’000

Audit 3,600
Taxation and non-audit services 698

 

4,298
 

保護資產

持續經營

核數師酬金

•
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprised of the following members (all 
being Independent Non-executive Directors) during the year 
and up to the date of this report:

Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael 
 (appointed Chairman of the Committee 
 on 12 June 2024)
Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict
 (appointed on 12 June 2024)

Under the term of reference of the Audit Committee, it is 
required to oversee the relationship between the Company 
and its external auditors, review the Group’s preliminary 
results, interim results and annual financial statements, 
moni tor  compl iance with statutory and L ist ing Rules 
requirements, review the scope, extent and effectiveness of 
the activities of the Group’s internal audit functions, engage 
independent legal or other advisers as it determines is 
necessary and perform investigations.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee adopted by 
the Board follow the guidelines set out in the CG Code and 
are published on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year which 
were attended by all then members.

During the year, the Audit Committee performed the duties 
and responsibilities under its terms of reference and the  
code provisions of the CG Code.

董事委員會

審核委員會
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Financial Statements

The Audi t  Commit tee meets wi th the Group F inance 
Director and other senior management of the Group from 
time to time to review the interim and final results, interim 
and annual reports and other financial, internal control and 
risk management matters of the Group. It considers and 
discusses the reports and presentations of management, 
the Group’s internal and external auditors with a view of 
ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong. It also meets with the 
Group’s external auditors, Deloitte, to consider their reports 
on the scope and outcome of their independent review of 
the interim financial report and on their annual audit of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

External Auditors

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the external 
auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness 
of the audit process. It has received representations from 
Deloitte of their independence and objectivity and holds 
meetings with Deloitte to consider the scope of their audit 
and their fees therefor, and the scope and appropriateness 
of non-audit services, if required, to be provided by them. 
The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment and retention of external auditors.

財務報表

 
 

外聘核數師
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The Group’s policies regarding the engagement of Deloitte 
for various services are as follows:

• Audit services – Deloitte is engaged to provide services 
in connection with the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company, which are required to be 
provided by external auditors.

• Audited related services – include services that would 
normally be provided by external auditors but not 
generally included in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, for example, audit of the Group’s 
pension plans, due diligence and accounting advice 
relating to mergers and acquisitions, internal control 
reviews of systems and/or process and issuance of 
special audit reports for tax purposes (if any). The 
external auditors are invited to undertake these services 
that they must or are best placed to undertake in their 
capacity as auditors.

• Taxation related services – include all tax compliance 
and tax planning serv ices except those serv ices 
provided in connection with the audit. The Group 
engages the services of the external auditors where 
they are best suited. Other significant taxation related 
work may be undertaken by other professional parties 
as appropriate.

• Others services – include, for example, audit or reviews 
of third parties to assess compliance with contracts, 
risk management diagnostics and assessments, and 
non-financial system consultations (if any). The external 
auditors are also invited to assist the management and 
the Group’s internal auditors with internal investigations 
and fact-finding in respect of alleged improprieties. These 
services are subject to specific approval by the Audit 
Committee.

•  — 

•  — 

•  — 

•  — 



Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   23   Annual Report 2025  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
企業管治報告

• General consulting services – the external auditors 
are not eligible to provide services involving general 
consulting work including accountancy services.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its 
responsibilities for maintaining an effective system of internal 
control. It reviews the process by which the Group evaluates 
its control environment and risk assessment process, and 
the way in which business and control risks are managed. 
In addition, it reviews with the Group’s internal auditors 
the work plan for their audit together with their resources 
requi rements,  and consider the i r  report  to the Audi t 
Committee on the effectiveness of internal controls in the 
Group’s business operations.

These reviews and reports are taken into consideration by 
the Audit Committee when it makes recommendations to the 
Board for approval of the consolidated financial statements 
for the year.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprised of the following 
members during the year and up to the date of this report:

Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael (an Independent 
 Non-executive Director) (appointed as a member and
 Chairman of the Committee on 12 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Hing Lun, Alain (an Executive Director)
Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold (an Independent Non-executive 
 Director)

The  Commi t tee  meets  fo r  the  de te rm ina t ion  o f  the 
remunerat ion  packages o f  the  D i rectors  and sen ior 
management of the Group. In addition, the Committee meets 
as and when required to consider remuneration related 
matters.

•  — 

風險管理及內部監控檢討

薪酬委員會
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The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to 
assist the Board in achieving its objectives of attracting, 
retaining and motivating people of the highest calibre and 
experience needed to shape and execute strategies across 
the Group’s substantial business operations. It assists 
the Group in the administration of a fair and transparent 
procedure for sett ing remunerat ion pol ic ies including 
assessment of the performance of the Directors and senior 
executives of the Group. The terms of reference of the 
Remuneration Committee adopted by the Board follow the 
guidelines set out in the CG Code and are published on the 
Company’s website.

The remunerat ions of Directors and senior executives 
a re  de te rm ined  w i th  re fe rence  to  the  pe r fo rmance 
and prof itabi l i ty of the Group as wel l  as remuneration 
benchmarks from other local and/or international companies 
and prevailing market conditions. Bonus are rewarded to 
Directors and employees based on the results of the Group 
and the individual’s performance.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year 
which was attended by all then members.

The Remuneration Committee had reviewed background 
information on market data, the Group’s business activities 
and human resources issues, headcounts and staff costs. 
The Remunerat ion Committee had also reviewed and 
approved the proposed director fees, year-end bonus and 
remuneration packages of Executive Directors and senior 
management of the Company for the year ended 31 March 
2025, and made recommendations to the Board on the 
directors’ fees for Independent Non-executive Directors 
(except they did not participate in the determination of their 
own remunerations).
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Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee comprised of the fol lowing 
members during the year and up to the date of this report:

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis
 (Executive Director and Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael
 (an Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold
 (an Independent Non-Executive Director)
 (appointed on 12 June 2024)

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee follow 
the guidelines set out in the CG Code and are published on 
the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year which 
was attended by all then members.

Members of the Nomination Committee identify potential 
new directors and recommend to the Board for decision. 
A director appointed by the Board is subject to election by 
shareholders at the first annual general meeting after his/her 
appointment.

Potential new directors are selected on the basis of their 
qualif ications, ski l l  and business experience which the 
Directors consider will make a positive contribution to the 
performance of the Board.

The Board has adopted a diversity policy to achieve diversity 
of  board members through considerat ion of  re levant 
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, 
cultural and educational background, ski l l , knowledge, 
or professional/business experience to ensure the Board 
has an appropriate diversity of talents to contribute to the 
business of the Group.

The Board appointed Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director on 12 June 2024 to 
further diversity its membership. The Board is expected to 
benefit from his extensive business experience as well as 
professional knowledge as accountant and solicitor.

董事提名
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The Board is  sat is f ied w i th  the implementat ion and 
effectiveness of the Company’s policy on Board diversity on 
its annual review for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company has establ ished mechanisms to ensure 
independent views and input are available to the Board, 
including the following:

• the independence of his/her view is considered before 
appointment of any proposed director;

• channels are established for directors to express their 
independent views and input openly, and confidentially 
if necessary; and

• each director has independent access to the senior 
management of the Company to make informed and 
independent decisions and to communicate with the 
Chairman directly to express his/her views.

The Board is  sat is f ied w i th  the implementat ion and 
effectiveness of such mechanisms on its annual review for 
the year ended 31 March 2025.

Dividend Policy

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code relates to disclosure 
of dividend policy. The Company does not have a dividend 
pol icy and the Board wi l l  decide on the declarat ion/ 
recommendation of any future dividends after taking into 
consideration a number of factors, including the prevailing 
market conditions, the Group’s operating results, business 
plans and prospects, financial position and working capital 
requirements, and other factors that the Board considers 
relevant.

Group Risk Management, Internal Control and 
Corporate Governance

Role of the Board

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems 
of risk management, internal control and legal and regulatory 
compliance.

• 

• 

• 

股息政策

F.1.1

集團風險管理、內部監控及企業管治

董事會之角色
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In meeting its responsibilities, the Board seeks to increase 
risk awareness across the Group’s business operations 
and has put in place policies and procedures, including 
parameters  o f  de legated author i ty ,  wh ich prov ide a 
framework for the identification and management of risks. 
The Board also evaluates and determines the nature and 
extent of the risks that the Company is willing to accept in 
pursuit of the Group’s strategic and business objectives. It 
also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the systems 
of risk management and internal control on an ongoing 
basis. Reporting and reviewing activities include review 
and approval by the Executive Directors and the Board of 
detailed operational and financial reports, budgets and plans 
of business operations provided by the management, review 
by the Board of actual results against budgets, review by 
the Audit Committee of the ongoing work of internal audit 
and risk management functions, as well as regular business 
rev iew by the Execut ive Di rectors and the execut ive 
management team of each core business division.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews 
regularly the corporate governance structure and practices 
within the Group and monitors compliance fulfillment on an 
ongoing basis.

Risk Management

The Group adopts an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
framework which is consistent with the COSO (Committee 
of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission) 
framework. The main features of the risk management and 
internal control systems are to provide a clear governance 
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting 
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage risks across its 
business operations.

The Group’s risk management framework consists of the 
Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management 
Taskforce. The Board determines the nature and extent of 
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic 
objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring 
the design, implementation and the overall effectiveness of 
risk management and internal control systems.

風險管理

Committee of Sponsoring Organization of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO)
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The Group has formulated and adopted risk management 
policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks. At least on an annual basis, 
the Risk Management Taskforce identifies risks that would 
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, 
and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according 
to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk 
owners are then established for those risks considered to be 
significant.

In addition, the Group has established an internal audit 
function to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in 
monitoring the risk management and internal control systems 
of the Group on an-ongoing basis. Deficiencies in the 
design and implementation of internal controls are identified 
and recommendations are proposed for improvement. 
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the 
Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to ensure 
prompt remediation actions are taken.

The Group Managing Director and the Group Finance 
D i rec to r  have  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  deve lop ing  and 
implementing risk mitigation strategies including taking out 
insurance policies to cover the financial impact of risks. 
The Group Finance Director is responsible for arranging 
appropriate insurance coverage including Directors Liability 
Insurance to protect directors of the Group against potential 
legal liabilities.

Risk management report is submitted to the Audit Committee 
and the Board at least once a year and internal control 
report is submitted half-yearly. The Board performs annual 
review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems, including but not limited to 
the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation 
and changing external environment; the scope and quality 
of management’s review on risk management and internal 
control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and 
frequency of communication with the Board in relation to 
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures 
or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and 
status of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and 
dissemination of inside information

The Group complies with the requirements of the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The 
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as 
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within 
any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before 
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group 
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the 
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality 
cannot be maintained or that confidential i ty may have 
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the 
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure 
that information contained in its announcements is true and 
accurate, and not false or misleading.

Internal Control Environment and Systems

The Board has overal l responsibi l ity for monitoring the 
operations of the Group’s business. Executive Directors are 
appointed to the boards of directors of all material operating 
subsidiaries for monitoring of their operations, including 
attendance at board meetings, review and approval of 
business strategies, budgets and plans, and setting of key 
business performance targets. The executive management 
team of each core business division is accountable for the 
conduct and performance of such division.

The Group’s internal control procedures include a system for 
reporting information to the executive management teams of 
each core business division and the Executive Directors.

Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by the 
management of individual business division subject to the 
review and approval of the Executive Directors. When setting 
budgets, the management identifies, evaluates and reports 
on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant 
business risks.

處理及發放內幕消息之程序及內部監控

內部監控環境及系統
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The Execut ive Directors rev iew monthly management 
reports on the financial results and key operating statistics 
of each business division and hold regular meetings with 
the executive management team and senior management 
of business operations to discuss these reports, business 
performance against budgets, forecasts, significant risk 
sensitivities and strategies. In addition, the Group Finance 
Director and members of his finance team review monthly 
performance against budget and forecast, and address 
accounting and finance related matters.

The Group Finance Director has established guidelines 
and procedures for approval and control of expenditures. 
Operating expenditures are subject to overall budget control 
and are controlled within each business with approval level 
for such expenditures being set by reference to the level of 
responsibility of each executive officer. Capital expenditures 
are subject to overall control within the annual budget 
review and approval process, and more specific control 
and approval by the Group Finance Director or Executive 
Directors are required prior to commitment for unbudgeted 
expenditures and material expenditures within the approved 
budget. Reports of actual versus budgeted and approved 
expenditures are also regularly reviewed.

The internal  audit  department provides to the Group 
Managing Director on a regular basis, and to the Audit 
Committee if necessary, independent assurance as to the 
existence and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
activities and controls in its business operations. Using 
risk assessment methodology and taking into account 
the dynamics of the Group activit ies, the internal audit 
department devises its yearly audit plan, which is reviewed 
by the Audit Committee, and reassessed during the year as 
needed to ensure that adequate resources are deployed and 
the plan’s objectives are met. The internal audit department 
is also responsible for assessing the Group’s internal control 
system, formulating an impartial opinion on the system, 
and reporting its findings to the Group Managing Director, 
Group Finance Director and the Audit Committee as well 
as following up on all reports to ensure that all issues have 
been satisfactorily resolved. In addition, a regular dialogue is 
maintained with the Group’s external auditors so that both 
are aware of the significant factors which may affect their 
respective scopes of work.
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Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of 
individual business units, the scope of the work performed 
by the in terna l  aud i t  funct ion inc ludes f inanc ia l  and 
operations review, recurring and surprise audits, fraud 
investigation and productivity effectively reviews.

Reports from the external auditors on internal controls and 
relevant financial reporting matters, if any, are presented to 
the Group Finance Director and the relevant management 
teams. These reports are reviewed and the appropriate 
actions taken.

Corporate Governance

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of 
developing and maintaining sound and effective corporate 
governance within the Group and is committed to ensuring 
that  an effect ive governance structure is  in p lace to 
continuously review and improve corporate governance 
practices within the Group to keep abreast of evolving 
environment and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted terms of reference for corporate 
governance functions set out in the CG Code, and the 
Audit Committee has been delegated the responsibilities to 
perform the corporate governance duties set out therein. 
To assist the Audit Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities, 
the Company Secretary, together with representatives from 
key departments of the Company, continuously examines 
the corporate governance structure of the Group, provides 
updates, identifies emerging matters for compliance, sets 
up appropriate compliance mechanisms and monitors 
compliance on an ongoing basis.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the compliance status 
and is satisfied that the Company has complied with all the 
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year 
except deviations explained in various relevant paragraphs 
above.

企業管治
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control 
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a 
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 
2025 cover ing a l l  mater ia l  f inancia l ,  operat ional  and 
compliance controls and risk management functions, and is 
satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate. In 
the view of the Board, the systems of risk management and 
internal control of the Group are sufficient to safeguard the 
interests of the Group.

Diversity in the Workforce

As of 31 March 2025, our total workforce comprised of 
63% female and 37% male, whereas senior management 
comprised of 48% female and 52% male. Please refer to the 
section headed “Employment” in the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report for information on the diversity 
in the Group’s workforce in general for the year ended 
31 March 2025. The Board considers that the Group has 
achieved good gender diversity in its workforce (including 
senior management).

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, 
timely and effective communication with the shareholders of 
the Company and investors. Therefore, the Board and the 
Group’s senior management maintain close communications 
with investors, analysts, fund managers and the media 
by various channels including interviews and meetings. 
The Group specifically assigns Mr. Lam Hing Lun, Alain, 
Group Finance Director, as the contact person for investor 
relationship to respond to requests for information and 
queries of investors.

檢討風險管理及內部監控系統

員工多元化

63% 37%
48% 52%

股東及投資者通訊
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Shareholders may put enquiries to the Board through its 
website at www.orientalwatch.com or in writing sent to 
the principal office of the Company at 19th Floor, Wing 
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. 
The Directors, Company Secretary or other appropriate 
members of senior management respond to enquiries from 
shareholders promptly.

The Company had rev iewed the implementat ion and 
effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication policy 
during the year ended 31 March 2025 and concluded that 
the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly in 
place during the Year and is effective.

Shareholders’ Right

The Board i s  commi t ted to  prov id ing  c lear  and fu l l 
information of the Group required under the Listing Rules, 
the SFO and other applicable laws and regulations to the 
shareholders through publication of notices,announcements, 
c i rcu lars ,  in ter im and annua l  repor ts .  In  add i t ion to 
d i spa tch ing  c i rcu la rs ,  no t i ces ,  f i nanc ia l  repo r t s  to 
shareholders, additional information of the Group’s also 
available to the shareholders on the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes the view of shareholders on matters 
affecting the Group. Shareholders are encouraged to attend 
all general meetings of the Company at which the Chairman 
and Directors are available to answer questions on the 
Group’s business.

www.orientalwatch.
com

111

股東權利
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Pursuant to Bye- law 58 of  the Company’s Bye- laws, 
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capita l  of  the 
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings 
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written 
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, 
to require a special general meeting to be called by the 
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such 
requisit ion, and such meeting shall be held within two 
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to 
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do 
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had 
changed its Bye-laws as detailed in its circular dated 26 July 
2024.

58

74(3)

章程文件之變動



35   Annual Report 2025  

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
環境、社會及管治報告

In accordance with Appendix C2 — Environmental, Social 
and Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing 
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing 
Limited (“HKEX”), Oriental Watch Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”, “We”, and “Our”) presents this Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report” or “Report”) 
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”, 
or “FY2025”). The Report aims to meet the diverse needs of 
different stakeholders for information that facilitates a better 
understanding of the Group’s progress in ESG initiatives and 
its strategic development direction.

REPORTING SCOPE

We are principally engaged in the trading business of luxury 
watches. This Report presents, aligned with the annual 
report, our ESG policies, programmes and performance 
in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China during the 
Reporting Period. The reporting boundaries were selected 
based on principal operating locations of the Company.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Company strictly follows the four Reporting Principles 
during the preparation of the ESG Report.

Materiality: Our  Company  conducted  the  annua l 
stakeholder engagement and identified the 
material ESG issues during the Reporting 
Period. The final ESG issues have been 
confirmed by the management and the 
Board of Directors of the Company. All the 
material ESG issues are addressed in this 
Report.

Quantitative: Our  Company moni tored var ious Key 
Performance Indicators (“KPI”) during the 
Reporting Period, which are presented 
i n  t h i s  Repo r t ,  t o  keep  t r ack  o f  t he 
progress of our ESG init iat ives. In this 
way, the effectiveness of ESG policies and 
management system can be evaluated 
and va l ida ted.  For  a l l  s tandards  and 
methods adopted for calculating the KPI 
(if applicable), please refer to the relevant 
sections in the Report.
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Balance: The Report presents an unbiased picture 
o f  t he  Company ’s  ESG pe r fo rmance 
during the Reporting Period. Our Company 
h a s  a v o i d e d  s e l e c t i o n s ,  o m i s s i o n s , 
o r  p r e s e n t a t i o n  f o r m a t s  t h a t  m a y 
inappropriately inf luence a decision or 
judgment by the report reader.

Consistency: T h e  C o m p a n y  a d o p t e d  c o n s i s t e n t 
methodologies in the data calculat ion 
as  compared to  p r io r  years  to  show 
comparable ESG data over time. The data 
are useful for setting environmental targets, 
which will be discussed in this Report.

BOARD STATEMENT

Act ing  as  top management  and superv is ion  ro le  o f 
the  Company,  our  Board o f  D i rectors  ( the  “Board” ) 
acknowledges that they have overall responsibility to oversee 
the ESG issues to achieve sustainable development, which 
includes:

• Taking ESG into account for establishing policies and 
setting strategies;

• Brainstorming the current and potential planning about 
ESG; and

• Receiving updated information for decision-making 
and forward-looking through regular report from ESG 
taskforce.

We make use of the mater ia l i ty assessment which is 
conducted with our stakeholders and industrial practices 
to explore the potentials and opportunities of our focus 
ESG topics. With the service-oriented characteristics, the 
Company’s social aspects are our identified focus areas in 
ESG. Meanwhile, we continue to drive our effort in improving 
the environment by reducing consumption. We have set up 
five years emissions reduction target on greenhouse gases, 
energy intensity, waste and enhance water efficiency with 
long-term management goals. The Group will continue to 
monitor various environmental data and make continuous 
progress. Going forward, the Board wil l strengthen the 
communication with the ESG taskforce to continuously 
introduce ESG policies and strategies as well as track ESG 
performance through a top-down approach.
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OUR ESG GOVERNANCE

We be l ieve  a  we l l -deve loped corporate  governance 
is the key to success of setting our ESG strategy and 
bui lding a communication channel between the Board 
and management and operational level. Therefore, we 
have established an ESG taskforce, which includes senior 
management as well as department heads of different 
functions while the Board has the overall responsibil ity 
for the Company’s ESG reporting and strategy in order to 
embed ESG-related elements throughout our operations. 
The key responsibilities of the ESG taskforce include the 
following:

• Establishing the long-term ESG goals and missions of 
the Company;

• Monitoring and managing ESG-related risks;

• Evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s ESG 
management systems; and

• Reporting the ESG objectives achieved to the Board on 
a regular basis.

The ESG taskforce is authorised by the Board to carry out 
its tasks including stakeholder engagement and materiality 
assessment. External professional advice could be sought 
at the expense of the Company when the ESG risks are 
assessed to be material.

We are committed to complying with the latest laws and 
regulations as well as the industry standards in our ESG 
practice. Our ESG initiatives are revised and communicated 
timely with staff members in order to enhance the efficiency 
of the ESG tasks.

We review our r isk management process on a regular 
basis. Material risks will be assessed and discussed by the 
abovementioned ESG taskforce and the Board. We develop 
and execute our business strategies with considerations of 
risks that may affect its business, such as operation risks, 
climate risks, financial risks and compliance risks. Internal 
control measures wil l be designed and implemented to 
mitigate the ESG risks. Please refer to the “GROUP RISK 
MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE” section of the Company’s “CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT” for details of the effectiveness of 
risk management and internal control systems.

我們之ESG管治
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Recognising the pivotal role of stakeholder feedback in our 
decision-making processes and future sustainability, we 
value the insights that stakeholders provide as integral to 
our long-term success. Addressing their expectations and 
concerns is fundamental for aligning with evolving ESG trends 
and ensuring well- informed decision-making. To foster 
this vital dialogue, we prioritise active communication and 
robust interaction with our stakeholders. Our stakeholder 
engagement strategies encompass var ious methods, 
including:

# Stakeholders
 利益相關者

Engagement Methods
參與方法

1 Suppliers and Business Partners
 

• Meetings
 
• Daily email communications
 
• Regular evaluations
 

2 Customers
 

• Company website
 
• Communication in retailing points
 
• Customer service hotline
 
• Enquiry emails
 

3 Employees
 

• Internal trainings
 
• Staff notices and announcements
 
• Annual performance appraisal
 
• Internal meetings
 

4 Investors and Shareholders
 

• General meetings
 
• Annual and interim reports
 
• Circulars and announcements
 
• Company website
 

利益相關者參與

ESG
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# Stakeholders
 利益相關者

Engagement Methods
參與方法

5 Government and Supervising Authorities
 

• Email communications
 
• Meetings
 
• Government websites regarding regulations
 

6 Social Groups and Public
 

• Charitable activities
 
• Public consultation emails
 

7 Media
 

• Press releases
 

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We have invited internal and external stakeholders to 
conduct materiality assessment FY2022. Considering that 
there was no major change in the business and operating 
environment during FY2025 and the results of the materiality 
assessment in FY2022 can still respond to the expectations 
of stakeholders, the Board confirmed that the results of the 
materiality assessment in FY2022 are still applicable to the 
Reporting Period. If needed, readers can refer to the FY2022 
ESG Report for the methodology and process of materiality 
assessment.
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# ESG Issues
ESG 議題

General
一般事項

1 Compliance

Environmental
環境

2 Air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions

3 Non-hazardous waste

4 Energy consumption

5 Water consumption

6 Use of packaging materials

7 Environmental targets

8 Noise pollution

9 Environmental impacts from investments (external lighting and renovation works)

10 Climate resilience

Social
社會

11 Recruitment, promotion and dismissal

12 Employee compensation and benefits

13 Employee working hours and rest periods

14 Equal opportunity
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# ESG Issues
ESG 議題

15 Workplace health and safety

16 Employee training and development

17 Anti-child and anti-forced labour

18 Supply chain relationship management

19 Environmental and labour performance of suppliers and subcontractors

20 Green/sustainable procurement

21 Product safety

22 Product quality and assurance

23 Service quality

24 Intellectual property rights

25 Advertising and labelling

26 Data privacy and protection

27 Community investment

Governance
管治

28 Board’s oversight of ESG issues
ESG

29 Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering

30 Anti-corruption training
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In this Report, the ESG Issue of Environmental target (#7) is 
incorporated in the sections of Energy consumption, Non-
hazardous waste, Water consumption and Greenhouse gas 
emissions below. ESG Issue of Noise pollution (#8) is also 
described inside the Renovation works part below. The 
section of Environmental and social risks along the supply 
chain covers both Environmental and labour performance of 
suppliers and subcontractors (#19) and Green/sustainable 
procurement (#20). We have also combined ESG Issues of 
Product safety (#21), Product quality and assurance (#22) 
and Service quality (#23) into one part named Product 
responsibility and service quality below. The ESG Issue of 
Board’s oversight of ESG issues (#28) is addressed in the 
Board statement.

Last ly ,  the re levant  regulat ions and ru les have been 
mentioned in the corresponding sections to address the 
compliance concerns from the stakeholders.

Based on the above analysis, this Report will cover the 
following major ESG related issues and describe them in 
order according to the importance of the ESG issues to our 
stakeholders.

#7 ESG

#8 ESG

#19 #20
#21

#22 #23 ESG

ESG #28
ESG

ESG ESG
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Social, Employment and Labour Practices

ESG aspects as 
set out in ESG 

Guide
ESG指引中所載
之ESG層面

Area
範疇

Material ESG issues for 
the Company

本公司之重大ESG議題

ESG aspects as 
set out in ESG 

Guide
ESG指引中所載
之ESG層面

Area
範疇

Material ESG issues for 
the Company

本公司之重大ESG議題

B7 Anti-corruption • Anti-corruption and 
anti-money laundering

 

• Anti-corruption 
training

 

B1 Employment • Employee 
compensation and 
benefits

 

• Recruitment, 
promotion and 
dismissal

 

• Equal opportunity
 

• Employee working 
hours and rest 
periods

 

B6 Product Responsibility • Product responsibility 
and service quality

 

• Data privacy and 
protection

 

• Advertising and 
labelling

 

• Intellectual property 
rights

 

B3 Development and 
Training

• Employee training and 
development

 

B2 Health and Safety • Workplace health and 
safety

 

B8 Community Investment • Social responsibility
 

社會、僱傭及勞工常規
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ESG aspects as 
set out in ESG 

Guide
ESG指引中所載
之ESG層面

Area
範疇

Material ESG issues for 
the Company

本公司之重大ESG議題

ESG aspects as 
set out in ESG 

Guide
ESG指引中所載
之ESG層面

Area
範疇

Material ESG issues for 
the Company

本公司之重大ESG議題

B5 Supply Chain 
Management

• Supply chain 
relationship 
management

 

• Environmental and 
social risks along the 
supply chain

 

B4 Labour Standards • Anti-child and anti-
forced labour

 

A2 Use of Resources • Energy consumption
 

• Non-hazardous waste
 

• Use of packaging 
materials

 

• Water consumption
 

A3 Environmental Impacts 
from Investments

• External lighting
 

• Renovation works
 

A1 Emissions • Air emissions
 

• Greenhouse gas 
emissions

 

A4 Climate Change • Climate resilience
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SOCIAL, EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR 
PRACTICES

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption and anti-money laundering

We believe that honesty, integrity, and fairness are of vital 
importance to our business operations. The Company 
has incorporated a str ict code of conduct in i ts staff 
manual for all employees to specify that solicitation and 
acceptance of advantages are prohibited and breaches of 
the code of conduct would result in disciplinary actions. 
Regular declaration of interest is compulsory for certain 
staff depending on grades and positions. Reminders are 
sent to employees regularly, and our business partners, 
suppliers and contractors are also informed of our policy 
on declaration of interests. The Company also periodically 
reviews the effectiveness of its internal control systems.

In addition, we have implemented an internal whistleblowing 
report ing mechanism to receive reports of suspected 
misconduct via various channels, prioritising whistleblower 
protection. Dedicated parties are tasked with conducting 
unbiased, thorough, and independent invest igat ions. 
In cases of confirmed misconduct, appropriate internal 
disciplinary actions are taken in accordance with established 
protocols, and legal avenues are pursued if necessary.

Compliance with anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-
money laundering regulat ions is a cornerstone of our 
business practices. We adhere to the appl icable laws 
and regulations in relation to the bribery, corruption, and 
money laundering, for example, the Prevention of Bribery 
Ordinance, and Ant i-Money Launder ing and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance in Hong Kong, Prevention and 
Suppression of Bribery in the Private Sector in Macau, and 
Anti- Unfair Competition Law of the PRC, Interim Provisions 
on Banning Commercial Bribery and Criminal Law of the 
PRC in Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, we have 
not identified any material non-compliance with the aforesaid 
laws and regulations. In addition, there were no legal cases 
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company or 
its employees during the Reporting Period.

社會、僱傭及勞工常規
 

反貪污

反貪污及防止洗黑錢
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Anti-corruption training

Anti-corruption training is one of the preventive measures 
and can raise directors’ and employees’ awareness of 
integrity. Directors regularly receive reading materials about 
anti-corruption via internal and external channels, reminding 
them to uphold high ethics in their position in FY2025. The 
Company also encourages them to join relevant webinars 
to keep updated of the anti-corruption related messages. 
Employees have been given induction briefing organised 
by the Company or seminars on anti-corruption regularly 
o rgan ised by  the  Independent  Commiss ion  Aga ins t 
Corruption of the Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region in the Reporting Period.

Product Responsibility

Product responsibility and service quality

As one of the largest watch retailers in Hong Kong renowned 
for its reputation, credibil ity, and scale, we have zero-
tolerance for sell ing counterfeit consumer goods in our 
retail shops. The Company has joined the “Quality Tourism 
Services Scheme” launched by the Hong Kong Tourism 
Board to attest the quality of its products and services. We 
also comply with the Product Quality Law of the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”) in Mainland China. To achieve 
high product and service quality, the Company only imports 
watches from manufacturers who use environmental ly 
friendly and safe raw materials for production. This ensures 
the products we sell to our customers are safe.

Although we heavily rely on our suppliers to import quality 
products,  we a lso need to ensure that  products are 
authenticated and obtained with valid certification. Prior to 
distribution to retail branches, a rigorous quality assurance 
process and sample test ing are carr ied out to ensure 
product integrity. To effectively manage potential product 
recall scenarios, we have established systematic internal 
recall procedures aimed at swiftly and effectively addressing 
such situations. Comprehensive investigations into product 
quality and recall incidents are conducted, leading to the 
implementation of preventive measures to forestall future 
occurrences. During the Reporting Period, the Company 
is not aware of any product recall due to safety and health 
reasons.

反貪污培訓

產品責任

產品責任及服務質素
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With the business philosophy of “keep the faith, caring for 
customer”, we commit to providing outstanding services 
that meet the market’s needs and valuing our customers. 
During the Reporting Period, the Company is not aware of 
any serious products and service-related complaints due to 
safety and health reasons.

The Company’s reta i l  shops are a l l  located at  pr ime 
locations to al low customers to enjoy convenient and 
comfortable shopping exper ience. The Company has 
established a specially designed VIP lounge at the flagship 
stores to provide a private, nice and leisure environment 
for customers to exchange professional knowledge and 
insights of timepieces with our staff. Our professional sales 
team strictly abide by standardised service guidelines when 
serving customers and they also need to receive regular 
assessments to maintain market competit iveness. Our 
professional sales team are well-trained and strive to provide 
comprehensive and knowledgeable advice accompanied 
with sincere and premium services to each customer.

We value our customer feedback which helps achieve 
continuous service improvement. Customers are encouraged 
to voice their concerns and complaints through various 
channels, including a designated customer service hotline, 
email address, and various social media platforms. Prompt 
resolution within specified timeframes and the provision of 
satisfactory solutions to customers’ issues are prioritised. 
Client reviews are conducted to gauge satisfaction with 
the resolution process. All inquiries and complaints are 
documented,  wi th regular  rev iews conducted by the 
management team to identify areas for improvement in both 
products and services based on the feedback received.

During the Reporting Period, the Company received 6 and 4 
complaints in Hong Kong and Mainland China respectively, 
regarding product quality, customer communication as 
well as unsatisfactory follow-up and service attitude. All 
these ten complaints had been resolved in accordance with 
the above procedures. In response to these complaints, 
the Human Resources Department had recognised the 
need for improvement and enhanced training programs 
for employees. The aim is to address the identified issues, 
improve product quality, enhance customer communication 
skills, and promote a more satisfactory follow-up and service 
attitude in order to prevent similar complaints in the future.
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In addition to understanding the needs of our customers, we 
attach great importance to maintaining a good relationship 
with them and rewarding their support to us. We implement 
different tiers of membership, offering different privileges.

Data privacy and protection

The Company respects the data privacy of our prestigious 
customers, business partners and staff. It strives to protect 
the privacy in the collection, processing, and use of personal 
data. The Company strictly fol lows the data protection 
regulations in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. 
Furthermore, the Company has deployed appropr iate 
technical measures in place, such as firewall and anti-virus 
software, to protect personal data against unauthorised 
use or access. The Company guarantees that the personal 
data is securely kept and processed only for the purpose for 
which it has been collected.

We devote our efforts in compliance with the Personal 
Data (Pr ivacy)  Ordinance,  Sale of  Goods Ordinance, 
Trade Description Ordinance, Supply of Services (Implied 
Terms) Ordinance in Hong Kong, Commercial Code and 
Personal Data Protection Act in Macau, and China Personal 
Information Protection Law in Mainland China.

During the Reporting Period, we have not identified any 
material non-compliance with the abovementioned laws and 
regulations.

Advertising and labelling

We execute our marketing strategy with the principle of 
integrity as it is our responsibility to treat our customers 
fairly and truthfully. We ensure that our operations comply 
with the Trade Description Ordinance in Hong Kong, the 
Commercial Code in Macau and the Advertisement Laws in 
Mainland China.

資料私隱及保護

廣告及標籤
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The Company uses marketing materials provided by the 
suppliers to ensure consistency between actual product 
specification and information on the marketing materials. 
Therefore, our marketing, advertising, and sales related 
materials and services must always be genuine and precise 
with the a im to meet the customer needs. We never 
misrepresent any untruthful statements that would as a 
result mislead our customers. Our advertisements are all 
factually correct to the real product. Our products are only 
offered to meet the customers’ needs and we are prohibited 
to sell unsuitable products.

During the Reporting Period, we have not identified any 
material non-compliance with the abovementioned laws and 
regulations.

Intellectual property rights

The Company formal ly registers and keeps val idity of 
trademarks to protect and prevent from infr inging the 
intellectual property rights. We strictly comply with the Trade 
Marks Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Industrial Property Code 
in Macau and the Trademark Law of the PRC in Mainland 
China in our operations. During the Reporting Period, we 
have not identified any material non-compliance with the 
abovementioned laws and regulations.

Health and Safety

Workplace health and safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe, healthy, 
pleasant and efficient work environment for its staff. In 
order to ensure the work environment is healthy and safe, 
various administrative measures such as workplace safety 
posters, training courses and practical guidelines have been 
implemented to communicate such a concept to all staff in 
its extensive retail network. Regardless of seriousness and 
locations, all cases of injury are required to be reported to 
the head office for further assessment under the internal 
policies and procedures so as to ensure proper handling of 
the cases and execution of preventive measures.

知識產權

健康與安全

工作場所健康與安全
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In FY2025, we have identif ied 141 of lost days by the 
Company’s  employees due to  work- re la ted in ju r ies . 
While overseeing the team-building day in Hangzhou, an 
employee assumed on-site responsibil ities. Regrettably, 
during transportation to the venue, an incident occurred 
on the shuttle bus where she collided with an iron handrail. 
Subsequent medical evaluation at the hospital diagnosed the 
employee with a fractured rib, necessitating a recuperative 
leave supported by medical documentation. The incident 
was promptly reported to the Human Resources and 
Social Security Bureau for verification as a work-related 
injury. Upon completion of the injury leave, the employee 
successfully recuperated and resumed her responsibilities. 
Our organisation underscores the importance of maintaining 
a culture of safety consciousness within and beyond the 
workplace to mitigate the likelihood of similar occurrences. 
This emphasis on safety awareness underscores our 
commi tment  to  sa feguard ing  the  we l l -be ing  o f  ou r 
employees and upholding a secure environment conducive 
to optimal performance and welfare.

No work-related fatalities were recorded in FY2025 or in 
the preceding two financial years, highlighting our ongoing 
commitment to workplace safety and risk prevention.

As a responsible employer, al l  staff are entit led to the 
Company’s medical insurance and other competitive fringe 
benefits to enable them to have easier access to preventive 
and emergency hea l th  care  serv ices and a f fordab le 
treatment.

We realise the laws and regulations about workplace health 
and safety have been tightened and more aware by the 
local authorities. We have spent efforts in compliance with 
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and Occupational 
Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, safety laws in 
Macau (i.e. Section 2/83/M), and Work Safety Law of the 
PRC in Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, we have 
not identified any material non-compliance with the aforesaid 
workplace health and safety-related laws and regulations.

141

2/83/M
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Supply Chain Management

Supply chain relationship management

Since its establishment in 1961, we have established and 
maintained strong relationships with various well-known 
luxury European watch brands. Many of these brands 
are accredited for their supreme qual ity and excel lent 
craftsmanship. Furthermore, their products are required to 
comply with high production standards and pass through 
various testing procedures to ensure quality. Apart from 
product quality, we also consider the reputation, as well 
as the environmental and social performance of the watch 
manufacturers before establishing business relationship with 
them. Our Company purchases well-known luxury watches 
from their brand regional offices. The following table shows 
the total number of suppliers in FY2025 across different 
regions:

Total Suppliers in FY2025, FY2024 and FY2023:

Unit
單位

Hong Kong
香港

Macau
澳門

Mainland 
China

中國內地
Total
合計

Supply chain management

No. of suppliers FY2025 Supplier 77 41 17 135

No. of suppliers FY2024 Supplier 100 60 15 175

No. of suppliers FY2023 Supplier 101 60 12 173

Environmental and social risks along the supply chain

We build a fair, anti-competitive environment for managing 
our supply chain. We ensure that our suppliers comply with 
the anti-competitive related laws and regulations.

供應鏈管理

供應鏈關係管理

供應鏈的環境及社會風險
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We are also aware of the importance of partnering with 
suppliers that are environmentally and socially responsible. 
To effectively identify and manage the environmental and 
social risks, our material suppliers are mandated to provide 
declarat ions deta i l ing the i r  env i ronmenta l  and socia l 
practices. We endeavour to ensure that our suppliers do 
not violate any relevant environmental and social related 
laws and regulations, which include key areas on emissions, 
health and safety, and labour standards. We maintain 
ongoing communications with our suppliers to understand 
if their operations align with the filled declaration. Once any 
misalignment has been discovered, we require suppliers to 
improve the conditions until the Company satisfies with the 
arrangement. If the supplier does not further improve, we 
would consider terminating the cooperation. Furthermore, 
the declaration result is one of the factors affecting the 
selection and evaluation of suppliers. Moving forward, the 
Group will consider further strengthening the management 
of risks in the supply chain to minimise the negative impact 
of procurement on environmental and social aspects.

We actively procure green products for our operations, all 
packaging bags distributed to customers are made of Forest 
Stewardship Council (“FSC”) accredited paper which is 
more environmentally friendly. We also devote to exploring 
the potentials and prioritising the purchase of more green 
products and services.

Employment

Recognising human resources as the cornerstone of our 
organisation, we hold our employees in the highest regard 
as the most valuable asset of the Company. To demonstrate 
this commitment, we have established employment policies 
and guidelines that align with the local employment laws in 
Hong Kong, Macau, and Mainland China. These policies are 
designed to uphold the well-being, rights, and professional 
development of our workforce, ensuring a harmonious and 
compliant work environment across all regions of operation.

僱傭
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Employee compensation and benefits

The Company takes reference from local industrial average 
to determine staff remuneration and other fringe benefits. 
Experience and qualifications of staff are also taken into 
account. Key performance indices, depending on staff 
position, have been adopted to measure staff performance 
in determining staff salary packages. Apart from basic 
salary, the Company also provides el igible employees 
with commissions and/or discretionary bonus to increase 
their work incent ive and boost the sale performance. 
Clear guidel ines pertaining to recruitment, promotion, 
compensation, dismissal, working hours, paid leaves, rest 
periods, and employee welfare have been established in the 
Group’s Employee Handbook and individual employment 
contracts. We foster a healthy work-life balance and provide 
various benefits to our employees, such as paid annual, 
sick, bereavement/compassionate, marriage, and maternity 
leaves. Employees are entitled to birthday leave, marriage 
leave, and bereavement leave, which provide them with the 
necessary time off to celebrate personal milestones and 
cope with difficult times.

Additionally, we prioritise the needs of our female colleagues 
by implementing a special policy allowing them to adjust 
their work schedule by either starting work one hour later or 
leaving work one hour earlier for one month after returning 
from maternity leave. This flexibility aims to help our female 
colleagues transition back to work smoothly while balancing 
personal commitments. We also value the importance 
of rest and relaxation, offering annual leave benefits that 
increase with seniority, enabling employees to recharge 
and spend quality time with their loved ones. Furthermore, 
our commitment to supporting employees extends to their 
families, as we provide a children’s education aid award 
scheme to assist with educational expenses.

We also prioritise the health and well-being of our employees 
by offering an annual physical examination allowance to 
encourage preventive care. Lastly, we understand the 
importance of continuous learning and growth, which is why 
we provide a training allowance to support employees in 
enhancing their skills and knowledge.

Eligible employees of Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland 
China are entitled to mandatory provident fund schemes, 
the social security fund, and the five types of insurance and 
contributions to the mandatory housing fund respectively. 
Medical insurance is also provided to employees to protect 
their health and safety during work time.

僱員薪酬及福利
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Recruitment, promotion and dismissal

The Company hires and promotes staff who share and 
support the Company’s missions, values and work ethics. 
The Company treasures those who demonstrate diligence, 
initiative, responsibility and integrity. Hiring and promotion 
are based on performance, merit and the principle of equal 
opportunities.

Total workforce in FY2025 and FY2024:

Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Total workforce

Full-time employee Employee 580 596

Part-time employee Employee 1 0

Total workforce by gender

Male Employee 215 224

Female Employee 366 372

Total workforce by age group

Below 30
30

Employee 73 66

30-50
30 50

Employee 434 458

Over 50
50

Employee 74 72

招聘、晉升及解僱
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Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Total workforce by employee category

General level Employee 473 483

Middle management level Employee 84 86

Senior management level Employee 24 27

Total workforce by geographical location

Hong Kong Employee 201 207

Macau Employee 22 20

Mainland China Employee 358 369

Dismissal is considered for underperformance, misconduct 
and/or fraud. All dismissal cases wil l  be carried out in 
accordance with the relevant labour laws and regulations 
in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. Employees 
can also choose to terminate their employment voluntarily, 
and they are required to complete the handover within the 
required notice period. To collect views from employees and 
identify improvement areas of the Company, exit interview 
with the leavers will be conducted.
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Employee turnover rate1 in FY2025 and FY2024:

Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Total employee resigned/terminated

Total Employee 118 92

Turnover rate % 20.3 15.44

Employee resigned/terminated by gender

Male Employee 43 28

Turnover rate % 20.00 12.50

Female Employee 75 64

Turnover rate % 20.49 17.20

Employee resigned/terminated by age group

Below 30
30

Employee 32 17

Turnover rate % 43.84 25.76

30-50
30 50

Employee 74 58

Turnover rate % 17.05 12.66

Over 50
50

Employee 12 17

Turnover rate % 16.22 23.61

1 Employee turnover rate (percentage) = Number of employee 
departure of the category/Number of employees of the category 
at the end of the Reporting Period x 100%

1

1 =
x100%
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Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Employee resigned/terminated by geographical location

Hong Kong Employee 23 24

Turnover rate % 11.44 11.59

Macau Employee 1 0

Turnover rate % 4.55 0

Mainland China Employee 94 68

Turnover rate % 26.26 18.43

Equal opportunity

The Company stands as an advocate for equal ity and 
divers i ty,  embracing a culture that values the unique 
contributions of every individual. We are committed to 
providing a workplace free from discrimination of any kind. 
This principle is deeply ingrained in our organisational culture 
and guides every facet of our human resources practices.

Regardless of gender, pregnancy, marital status, disability, 
fami ly  status,  or  race, the Company ensures that a l l 
employees are provided with fair and equal opportunities in 
every aspect of their employment journey. This commitment 
extends across recruitment, selection, training, promotion, 
compensation, and all other human resources processes 
within the organisation. By championing diversity and 
inclusivity, we strive to create a workplace where every 
individual is valued, respected, and given the chance to 
thrive based on their merits and abilities.

Employee working hours and rest periods

Work ing hours,  rest  per iods and other  benef i ts  and 
welfare are determined based on local industrial averages. 
Experience, qualifications, and seniority of staff are taken 
into account as well.

平等機會

僱員工作時數及假期
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We have put great emphasis on the compliance with the 
labour-related laws and regulations such as the Employment 
Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong, 
Labour Relations Law, and Framework Law on Employment 
Policy and Worker’s Rights in Macau as well as Labour Law 
of the PRC and Labour Contract Law of the PRC in Mainland 
China. During the Reporting Period, we have not identified 
any material non-compliance with the aforesaid employment 
laws and regulations.

Development and Training

Employee training and development

The Company cons iders  human resources as v i ta l l y 
important  to the success of  i ts  bus iness.  Therefore, 
the Company has developed a comprehensive training 
programme consisting of product knowledge, service and 
selling skills, complaints handling techniques and managerial 
competences. These training courses are provided for 
different levels of staff based on their job responsibilities.

The Company also offers induction training courses for 
communicating corporate values, service standards and 
code of conduct to new joiners. In addition, leadership 
programmes organised by external professional institutions 
have been provided to management personnel so as to 
equip them with proper professional management skills. 
Furthermore, the Company has engaged external service 
prov iders to per form independent  eva luat ion on the 
performance of frontline staff. It helps to identify potential 
improvement areas to enhance customer service skills of the 
staff.

發展及培訓

僱員培訓及發展
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The percentage of employees trained2 in FY2025 and 
FY2024:

Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Number of employees trained by gender

Male Employee 176 186

Employees training rate % 39.11 40.26

Female Employee 274 276

Employees training rate % 60.89 59.74

Number of employees trained by employee category

General level Employee 350 334

Employees training rate % 77.78 72.30

Middle management level Employee 81 109

Employees training rate % 18.00 23.59

Senior management level Employee 19 19

Employees training rate % 4.22 4.11

2 Employee training rate (percentage) = Number of trained 
workforce of the category/Number of workforce took part in 
training at the end of the Reporting Period x 100%

2

2 =  
x100%
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Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Number of employees trained by geographical location

Hong Kong Employee 166 163

Employees training rate % 36.89 35.28

Macau Employee 22 20

Employees training rate % 4.89 4.33

Mainland China Employee 262 279

Employees training rate % 58.22 60.39

The average training hours completed per employee3 in 
FY2025 and FY2024:

Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Total and average training hours by gender

Male Hour 5,364.00 3,037.00

Average training hours Hour 24.95 13.56

Female Hour 11,678.50 6,418.00

Average training hours Hour 31.91 17.25

3 Average training hours = Total number of training hours for 
employees of the category/Number of employees of the 
category at the end of the Reporting Period

3 =

3
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Indicator
指標

Unit
單位

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024
二零二四財年

Total and average training hours by employee category

General level Hour 13,440.50 6,537.50

Average training hours Hour 28.42 13.54

Middle management level Hour 3,287.00 2,740.00

Average training hours Hour 39.13 31.86

Senior management level Hour 315.00 177.50

Average training hours Hour 13.13 6.57

Total training hours by geographical location

Hong Kong Hour 2,386.00 1,393.00

Macau Hour 413.50 187.00

Mainland China Hour 14,243.00 7,875.00

In FY2025, an increase in employee training hours has been 
noted, demonstrating our dedication to augmenting the 
expertise and skills of our workforce.
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Community Investment

Social responsibility

The Company demonstrates its care for society by giving 
back to the community. We are committed to enhancing the 
community’s well-being and social services. Our approach 
to community investment involves both financial sponsorship 
of charitable init iatives and active staff participation in 
volunteering activities. By integrating financial resources 
with employee engagement, we are able to maximise the 
positive impact of our contributions to society. In FY2025, 
our employees collectively contributed 21 service hours 
to support various charitable causes. During the reporting 
period, the Company as a whole, as well as individual 
senior management personnel have been actively providing 
sponsorship to various charitable organisations, for example 
Hong Kong Children in Need Foundation (“HKCIN”) and 
Principal Chan Free Tutorial World, with a lump sum of 
HKD$417,850 equivalent.

In February 2025, Oriental Watch collaborated with the 
HKCIN Charity Foundation to organise the “Take Your Time, 
Enjoy Nature Together” Outdoor Activity Day. This event 
facil itated a partnership between students from Asbury 
Methodist  Pr imary School  and dedicated volunteers. 
Together, they engaged in activities such as crafting organic 
pineapple cakes, planting organic vegetable seedlings, 
and interacting with the farm’s array of endearing animals, 
including alpacas, rabbits, goats, and Valais Blacknose 
sheeps. The day provided a harmonious opportunity for 
all participants to forge a meaningful connection with the 
natural world amidst the tranquil surroundings of the farm.

The Company’s dedication to corporate social responsibility 
was also exemplif ied through our sponsorship of “The 
Clearwater Bay Golf  and Country Club Joyful  Char i ty 
Run and Walk 2025” held on 8 March 2025. This event, 
hosted at the Clearwater Bay Golf & Country Club, aimed 
to advocate for the signif icance of cult ivating posit ive 
emotions and enhancing mental well-being through regular 
physical activity. Alongside sponsorship, the Company 
actively encouraged the employees to engage in the event, 
showcasing our commitment to this noble cause. The 
Company is proud to have contributed to raising public 
consciousness and fostering greater understanding of the 
integral link between physical and mental health.

社區投資

社會責任

21

417,850

  Take Your Time

2025
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Labour Standards

Anti-child and anti-forced labour

All of the Company’s offices and retail stores strictly comply 
with the local law’s requirements, with no tolerance on 
child labour. During our hiring process, we check and verify 
the personal data of the potential candidates in order to 
prevent from hiring child labour. We also sign the formal 
employment contract with employees, and the contract 
specif ies key areas such as work duties, work hours, 
overtime arrangements and rest periods to protect the rights 
and obligations of the employer and employees and prevent 
forced labour.

We have noted the requirements about child or forced 
labour in the local laws and regulations of our operating 
locations. Therefore, we strictly adhere to these laws and 
regulations such as Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, 
Labour Relations Law in Macau and Labour Law of the PRC 
in Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, we have not 
identified any material non-compliance with the aforesaid 
employment laws and regulations. In case of discovering 
non-compliance cases, we will immediately terminate the 
employment relationship or even transfer the cases and 
settle through legal means.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Company exerts i ts best efforts in protect ing the 
environment from its business activities and workplace. The 
Company is committed to promoting the green concept 
by introducing environmentally friendly business practices 
and educating its employees to raise their awareness on 
environmental protection.

Multiple measures have been adopted to reduce energy and 
other resource use, minimise waste, increase recycling and 
promote environmentally friendly practices in its supply chain 
and retail network operations.

勞工標準

防止童工及防止強制勞工

環境
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During our daily operations, we are subject to the Product 
Eco-responsibi l i ty Ordinance and Motor Vehicle Idl ing 
(Fixed Penalty) Ordinance in Hong Kong, environmental 
laws in Macau (i.e. Section 2/91/M), and Law of the PRC 
on Prevention and Control of Pollution from Environmental 
Noise, Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, Laws of 
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental 
Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes and Energy Conservation 
Law of the PRC in Mainland China. We strictly adhere to all 
applicable environmental laws and regulations, and we have 
not identified any material non-compliance with the aforesaid 
laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

W e  m a k e  u s e  o f  t h e  p a s t  c o n s u m p t i o n  d a t a  f o r 
environmental target setting regarding the energy, water and 
waste. Employees will continue to be reminded to minimise 
unnecessary consumption of resources and shall continue to 
implement green efforts in reducing resource consumption 
from its source. Relevant emission figures will be monitored 
periodically to ensure the Group is on track to achieve the 
reduction target.

Use of Resources

Owing to the nature of our retail business, our operations 
do not have issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose 
was noted during the Reporting Period. Fuels, electricity and 
packaging bags are the major resources we use in our luxury 
watch retail business.

Energy consumption

During the Reporting Period, the types and amount of 
energy consumed were as follows:

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Energy Type 能源類型
Unit
單位

Amount
金額

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)
程度（每平方
呎營業地點）

Amount

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)

Electricity kWh 1,839,743 27.36 1,850,863 26.44

Diesel Litre 45,457 0.68 41,096 0.59
Petrol Litre 26,069 0.39 23,516 0.34

2/91/
M

資源使用

耗能
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To minimise energy consumption in its retail stores and 
offices, the Company advocates the efficient use of energy 
by adopting green technologies and close monitor ing 
on operations. As a retailer of luxury watches, the most 
significant use of energy has arisen from the electricity 
consumption in retail stores for air conditioning and lighting. 
The Company monitors technology advancements in lighting 
systems and upgrades the systems accordingly so as to 
increase overall operating efficiency.

Our energy use efficiency target focuses on the electricity 
consumption of the Company. The Company has established 
a five-year reduction target for electricity intensity of our 
core business by approximately 35% in total. The estimated 
reduction target was established by comparing the data of 
FY2021 as the baseline year. By comparing FY2025 with 
FY2021, we have already experienced 11.74% reduction for 
the electricity intensity. In addition, the Company measures 
and records the energy consumption on an on-going basis 
to analyse its energy consumption efficiency.

Non-hazardous waste

Owing to  the  Company’s  re ta i l  bus iness  nature ,  no 
hazardous waste was produced during the Reporting Period. 
The major type of non-hazardous waste was paper used for 
administrative work and the details of non-hazardous wastes 
created were as follows:

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Type 類型
Unit
單位

Quantity
數量

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)
程度（每平方
呎營業地點）

Quantity

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 26.22 0.00039 28.23 0.00040

As compared to FY2024, the intensity of non-hazardous 
waste is similar as there is no significant operational change 
in the current reporting year. However, we will continue to 
strive to adopt the following waste reduction measures to 
reduce the total non-hazardous waste.

35%

11.74%

無害廢棄物
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To reduce off ice wastepaper, the Company has been 
creating a paperless working environment through increasing 
the use of internet system gradual ly. On one hand, i t 
reduces environmental damage; on the other hand, it fits 
commercial goals, as this saves office space used for storing 
hardcopies and facilitates efficient information sharing via 
off ice network. Furthermore, double-sided printing and 
copying has become compulsory in the Company except 
for special circumstances with approval obtained. Only used 
paper can be used as draft paper by staff. Collection boxes 
have been put in place to collect single-side used paper for 
reuse and other scrap paper for recycling. These can help 
reduce paper consumption and save costs substantially. To 
monitor the paper usage efficiency, consumption records of 
paper and printing have been regularly collected, assessed 
and monitored.

Our waste reduct ion target  focuses on cont inuously 
increasing the recycl ing rate within f ive years’ t ime by 
compar ing the data of  FY2021 as the basel ine year. 
The amount of recycled paper for FY2025 and FY2024 
are 4,920kg and 5,596kg respect ively.  These f igures 
demonstrate our firm’s strong commitment to protecting the 
environment by actively reducing waste and supporting a 
circular economy.

Use of packaging materials

We consume packaging bags and materials in our business. 
During the Report ing Period, the packaging mater ials 
consumed were as follows:

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Unit
單位

Amount
金額

Amount

Packaging materials kg 1,140 1,817
Recycle Bag kg 758 1,087

Our data collection system for our packaging materials 
includes both normal packaging materials and all kinds of 
shopping bags including recycled shopping bags.

4,920 5,596

使用包裝材料
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All of the packaging bags distributed to customers are made 
of FSC accredited paper which is more environmentally 
friendly. Furthermore, the packaging bags are designed to 
fit the product size in order to avoid excessive packaging. 
Packaging bags will only be distributed upon customers’ 
request. Our customers have raised awareness of reducing 
the consumpt ion o f  packag ing mater ia ls ,  and some 
customers even do not request for recycling bags, which led 
to a reduction in the consumption of both packaging bags 
and recycled bags in FY2025.

Water consumption

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Unit
單位

Amount
金額

Amount

Hong Kong m3 1,817 1,801
China m3 630 660

Water consumption in Hong Kong remained largely stable in 
FY2025, as there were no significant changes in operational 
activities or scale of operations. Our water efficient targets 
focus on implementing water efficiency initiatives, which 
include raising the awareness of our employees to cherish 
the water resources and conducting regular inspections with 
timely repairs to prevent water wastage.

Emissions

Owing to the nature of our retail business, the Company has 
no production activities or facilities. Therefore, there were no 
sewage discharge to the environment during the Reporting 
Period.

水資源消耗

排放物
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Air emissions

We maintain vehicles for our executives and customers, as 
well as for delivery purposes. Such vehicles are the major 
source of our air emissions. During the Reporting Period, our 
air emissions details were as follows:

FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Source of emission4 排放源 4

Unit
單位

Amount
金額

Amount

Nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) NOx tonnes 0.49 0.44
Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) SOx tonnes 0.00112 0.00101
Particular matter (“PM”) PM tonnes 0.045 0.041

Since we bought a vehicle for smooth business operation, 
the air emissions data has experienced an increase with 
comparison to FY2024. We are aware of the air emissions 
generated f rom our use of  vehic les so that  we have 
established internal procedures to reduce the negative 
impact and ensure the compliance with the Air Pollution 
Contro l  Ord inance in  Hong Kong and Env i ronmenta l 
Protection Law of the PRC. For example, we monitored 
the vehicle conditions on a regular basis and arranged the 
vehicles for annual test by the local authority.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Company’s major business is luxury watches retailing in 
different geographical areas of the Greater China region, the 
major direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 emission) 
of the Company came from the use of vehicles. Our major 
indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2 emission) and 
other indirect greenhouse emissions (Scope 3 emission) 
came from the electricity consumption and paper use of 
offices and retail stores respectively. The details of the 
greenhouse gas emission (“CO2e”) were as follows:

4 The calculation of air emissions was based on the “Reporting 
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” of the Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited.

4 

氣體排放

溫室氣體排放

CO2e
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FY2025
二零二五財年

FY2024

Source of emission5 排放源 5

Unit
單位

Quantity
數量

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)
程度（每平方
呎營業地點）

Quantity

Intensity
(Per square foot 

of operating 
locations)

Scope 16 6 tonne CO2e
CO2e

194.24 0.0029 176.14 0.0025

Scope 27 7 tonne CO2e
CO2e

956.00 0.010 1,062.59 0.015

Scope 38 8 tonne CO2e
CO2e

62.71 0.0009 71.34 0.0010

Total tonne CO2e
CO2e

1,212.95 0.018 1,310.07 0.019

Our  to ta l  Scope 1 ,  2  &  3  emiss ions  in  FY2025 has 
experienced 7.41% decrease as compared with FY2024, 
and a 11.74% reduction as compared to the baseline year 
(FY2021).

5 The calculat ion of greenhouse gas emissions was based 
on the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol”  publ ished by Wor ld 
Resources Institute and World Business Council on Sustainable 
Development, “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” 
published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, 
“Guide l ines to Account  for  and Report  on Greenhouse 
Gas Emission and Removals for Bui ld ings (Commercia l , 
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” by Hong 
Kong Environmental Protection Department and Electrical 
and Mechanical Services Department, “CLP Sustainabil ity 
Report 2024” by CLP Holdings Limited, “Hong Kong Electric 
Sustainability Report 2024” by Hong Kong Electric Company 
Limited, “CEM Sustainability Report 2023” by Companhia de 
Electricidade de Macau, “

( )” published by the National Development 
and Reform Commission of the PRC, and “2022

” published by the Ministry of Ecology and 
Environment of the PRC.

6 Scope 1 emission, which include carbon emission from vehicles.
7 Scope 2 emiss ion, which inc lude carbon emiss ion f rom 

electricity consumption by the Company.
8 Scope 3 emission, which include carbon emission from paper 

usage by the Company.

5 

2024
2024

2023

2022

6 
7 

8 

7.41%
11.74%
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We are cautious about the environment and the carbon 
footprints in our operations. We have put into practice 
certain environmentally friendly initiatives in reducing the 
greenhouse gas emission. We also strictly tracked our 
establ ished Group-wide f ive years reduction target for 
the Scope 1, 2 & 3 emissions of our core business. The 
estimated reduction target was established by comparing 
the data of FY2021 as the baseline year.

Environmental Impacts from Investments

As most of our retail stores are located at central business 
areas, the Company endeavours to minimise its impacts 
on the environment by identifying, assessing and managing 
environmental impacts resulting from its various operational 
activities regularly. For any significant impacts identified, 
the Company wi l l  immediately formulate and execute 
the corresponding mitigation measures and monitor its 
effectiveness continuously to ensure the impacts have been 
resolved.

External lighting

As a luxury watch retailer, the Company uses standout 
advertising signs to attract customers, which may create 
certain level of light. In view of that, the Company has signed 
up to the “Charter on External Lighting” launched by the 
Environment Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong 
Special Administration Region such that all advertising signs 
of the retail stores would be switched off between 11p.m. 
and 7a.m. on the following day. Apart from reducing the 
impacts of light pollution, these actions also help to reduce 
energy consumption throughout the operations.

Renovation works

Renovation works are carried out regularly to ensure our 
retail shops offer pleasant environment to customers and to 
increase our bargaining power when negotiating rental terms 
with landlords. As such, noise and dust will be resulted 
from the renovation works and affect the neighbourhood. 
Although all renovation works are outsourced to third party 
contractors which the Company has no direct control, we 
require our contractors to execute all possible measures in 
mitigating the negative impacts on the neighbourhood, for 
example, requiring renovation works to be carried out during 
non-peak hours and installing barriers to prevent dust and 
noise from spreading out.

投資對環境的影響

戶外燈光

裝修工程
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Climate Change

Climate resilience

The Company’s management, holding a significant interest, 
is committed to enhancing its resilience to climate change. 
This involves a proact ive approach to ident i fy ing and 
managing climate-related risks and opportunities, aligning 
strategies with global best practices for adapting to and 
mitigating the impacts of climate change on operations.

The Company recognises the potential impacts of acute 
and chronic physical risks, including disruptions caused by 
extreme weather events in the key operational zone which 
may increase the risk of shop closures. Through proactive 
monitoring and strategic planning, we aim to minimise 
disturbances and ensure uninterrupted service delivery to 
our customers. Additionally, a paramount priority is placed 
on the health and safety of our employees, with well-defined 
internal protocols governing work arrangements during 
adverse weather conditions. These initiatives underscore 
our commitment to employee well-being and operational 
resilience in the face of environmental adversities.

To address cl imate change impacts, the Company has 
implemented measures to reduce i ts carbon footpr int 
through the establishment of long-term emission reduction 
targets. A culture of carbon emission reduction is promoted 
among employees, suppliers, and customers in their daily 
activities. Moreover, initiatives to enhance energy efficiency 
within operations through industry-leading practices are 
actively pursued.

T h e  C o m p a n y  i s  a l s o  c o m m i t t e d  t o  d e v e l o p i n g 
comprehens ive  po l ic ies  that  encompass mi t igat ion , 
adaptation, resilience, and transparent disclosure in response 
to climate challenges. Collaboration with stakeholders and 
supply chain will be integral in formulating contingency plans 
to address climate-related events effectively. This proactive 
stance demonstrates our dedication to sustainable practices 
and environmental stewardship.

氣候變化

氣候抗禦措施
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The directors present their annual report and the audited 
consol idated f inancia l  statements for the year ended  
31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company as 
well as engages in watch trading. The principal activities 
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The Company and its 
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The resu l ts  o f  the Group for  the year  are set  out  in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on pages 88 to 89.

An interim dividend of 6.1 Hong Kong cents per share and 
a special dividend of 18.5 Hong Kong cents per share were 
declared and paid to the shareholders during the year. A final 
dividend of 4.2 Hong Kong cents per share and a special 
dividend of 12.5 Hong Kong cents per share being proposed 
by the directors are subject to approval by the shareholders 
in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available 
fo r  d is t r ibu t ion  cons is ted o f  cont r ibuted surp lus  o f 
HK$122,183,000, dividend reserve of HK$81,389,000 and 
retained profits of HK$5,994,000.

Under the Companies Act 1984 of Bermuda (as amended), 
the contributed surplus account of the Company is available 
for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or 
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed 
surplus if:

(a) to do so would render the Company unable to pay its 
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less 
than its liabilities.

主要業務

36

業績及股息

88 89

6.1 18.5
4.2

12.5

儲備

122,183,000
81,389,000

5,994,000

(a) 

(b) 
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group incurred approximately HK$13.3 
million on the purchase of property, plant and equipment. 
Details of these and other movements in property, plant and 
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

The  management  g ran ted  the  l oans  and  made  the 
investment mentioned in the note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the Company’s 
business strategies to widen its income base.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE 
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the 
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis
Madam Yeung Man Yee, Shirley
Mr. Lam Hing Lun, Alain

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Choi Man Chau, Michael
Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict
 (appointed on 12 June 2024)

Mr. Sin Nga Yan, Benedict obtained legal advice referred to 
in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 5 June 2024 and he 
has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of 
a listed issuer.

In  accordance wi th Bye- law 87(1)  of  the Company’s  
Bye-laws, Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis and Mr. Lam Hing 
Lun, Alain, retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for  
re-election.

物業、機器及設備

13,300,000

14

應收貸款

22

董事及董事服務合約 

執行董事：

獨立非執行董事：

 

3.09D

87(1)
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None of the directors has a service contract with the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable 
by  t he  G roup  w i t h i n  one  yea r  w i t hou t  paymen t  o f 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Detai ls of the remunerat ion paid by the Group to the 
directors of the Company and the senior management of the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the directors of 
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the 
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept 
under Section 352 of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as otherwise notif ied to the 
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies 
were as follows:

Number of shares held
所持股份數目

 

Personal
interest

Family
interest

Corporate
interest

Total
number

of shares

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company

Name of director 董事姓名 個人權益 家族權益 公司權益 股份總數
佔本公司已發行

股本百分比

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis 4,084,000 — (note (a)) 4,084,000 0.84%
(a)

Madam Yeung Man Yee, Shirley 1,200,000 221,161 (note (b)) 1,421,161 0.29%
(b)

Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold — — 3,200,000 3,200,000 0.66%
(note (c))

(c)

10

董事擁有之證券權益及淡倉 

352
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Notes:

(a) Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis and his wife are the beneficial 
owners of an aggregate of about 16.7% of the issued share 
capital of Realtower Holdings Limited, the beneficial owner 
of 10% of the issued share capital of Furama Investments 
Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of 80% of the 
issued share capital of Datsun Holdings Limited. He is also 
the beneficial owner of about 14.3% of the issued share 
capital of Real Champ Limited, the beneficial owner of 20% of 
the issued share capital of Datsun Holdings Limited. Datsun 
Holdings Limited is the beneficial owner of 127,776,000 
shares in the Company. He is also the beneficial owner of 
2.5% of the issued share capital of Y.H. Chan Limited, which 
is the beneficial owner of 25% of the issued share capital of 
Furama Investments Limited. Y.H. Chan Limited also directly 
holds 388,561 shares in the Company.

(b) Madam Yeung Man Yee, Shir ley is the beneficial owner 
of about 13.3% of the issued share capital of Realtower 
Holdings Limited.

(c) Mr. Sun Dai Hoe Harold is a director and has 24.5% interest  
in Sun International Limited, which is the beneficial owner of 
3,200,000 shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the 
directors of the Company had any interest or short positions 
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register 
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Companies.

(a) 
Rea l tower  Ho ld ings  L im i t ed

16.7% Rea l tower  Ho ld ings 
Limited Furama Investments 
Limited 10% Furama  
Investments Limited Datsun  
Holdings Limited 80%

Real Champ Limited
14.3% Real Champ Limited

Datsun Holdings Limited
20% Datsun Holdings Limited
127,776,000

2.5% Furama 
Investments Limited 25%

388,561

(b) Realtower Holdings 
Limited 13.3%

(c) Sun 
International Limited 24.5% Sun 
International Limited 3,200,000

352

XV
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND DIRECTORS’ 
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

2022 Share Award Scheme

On 27 June 2022 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company 
adop ted  an  emp loyees ’  sha re  awa rd  scheme  ( t he 
“2022 Share Award Scheme”). The 2022 Share Award 
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years 
commencing from the Adoption Date.

Under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, any employee, 
executive, officer, or directors of the Company or of any 
subsidiary are eligible for participation in the scheme. The 
purposes and objectives of the 2022 Share Award Scheme 
are to recognise and motivate the contributions by certain 
eligible persons and to provide them with incentives in order 
to retain them for the continual operation and development 
of the Group and to help the Group in attract ing and 
recruiting suitable personnel as additional employees to 
further the operation and development of the Group, and to 
provide the eligible persons with a direct economic interest 
in attaining the long-term business objectives of the Group. 
The board of directors shall not make any further award 
which will result in: (i) the number of shares awarded by 
the board under the scheme exceeding 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date; or (ii) 
the number of the shares held by public shareholders falls 
below the minimum percentage as prescribed under the 
Listing Rules. The maximum number of shares which may 
be awarded to each selected person under the scheme shall 
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company 
as at the Adoption Date. The total number of awards 
available for grant under the 2022 Share Award Scheme was 
48,735,822 shares as at 1 April 2024, 31 March 2025 and 
the date of this report respectively, representing 10% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this 
report. Under the 2022 Share Award Scheme, there is no 
provision on (a) the vesting period of awards to be granted; 
and (b) the amount payable on application or acceptance 
of the award and the period within which payments or calls 
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be 
repaid. All these are subject to the discretion of the board of 
directors of the Company on the granting of an award under 
such scheme.

For further detai ls of the pr incipal  terms of the 2022 
Share Award Scheme, please refer to the Company’s 
announcement on 27 June 2022.

No share award has been granted under the 2022 Share 
Award Scheme since the Adoption Date.

股份獎勵計劃及董事購買股份或 
債券之權利 

二零二二年股份獎勵計劃

10

(i)
10%

(ii)

1%

48,735,822
10%

(a)
(b)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, according to the register maintained 
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, the 
following persons (not being a director or chief executive 
of the Company) had interests in the share capital of the 
Company:

Number of
shares held

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company

Name of shareholder 股東名稱 所持股份數目
佔本公司已發行

股本百分比

Yeung Ming Biu 155,754,144 31.96%
Datsun Holdings Limited Datsun Holdings Limited 127,776,000 26.22%
Furama Investments Limited  

(Note 1)
Furama Investments Limited  

1 127,776,000 26.22%
Realtower Holdings Limited  

(Note 1)
Realtower Holdings Limited  

1 127,776,000 26.22%
Ntasian Discovery Master Fund Ntasian Discovery Master Fund 29,164,000 5.11% (Note 2)

2
TIG Advisors LLC TIG Advisors LLC 16,134,000 5.05% (Note 3)

3

Notes:

1. Realtower Holdings Limited holds 55% of the issued share 
capital of Furama Investments Limited, which holds 80% 
of the issued share capital of Datsun Holdings Limited. 
Accordingly, both Realtower Holdings Limited and Furama 
Investments Limited are deemed under the SFO to be 
interested in the 127,776,000 shares in the Company held by 
Datsun Holdings Limited.

2. This percentage is according to the latest notice filed under 
the SFO on 10 June 2016 on the basis of 570,610,224 shares 
then in issue.

3. This percentage is according to the latest notice filed under 
the SFO on 15 January 2008 on the basis of 319,253,000 
shares then in issue.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2025, there was 
no person who had any interests or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company according to 
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 
336 of the SFO.

主要股東

336

1. Realtower Holdings Limited Furama  
Investments Limited 55%
F u r a m a  I n v e s t m e n t s  L i m i t e d  

D a t s u n  H o l d i n g s  L i m i t e d  
80%

Realtower Holdings Limited Furama 
Investments Limited Datsun 
Holdings Limited 127,776,000

2. 

570,610,224

3. 

319,253,000

336
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INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of 
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
was a party and in which a director or a connected entity of 
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at 
any time during the year.

There is no contract of significance between the Group and 
a controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the 
Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, including for the 
provision of services to the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to 
the Group’s five largest suppliers comprised approximately 
92% of the Group’s total purchases while the purchases 
a t t r i b u t a b l e  t o  t h e  G ro u p ’s  l a r g e s t  s u p p l i e r  w a s 
approximately 90% of the Group’s total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the 
Group’s five largest customers comprised approximately 
0.7% of the Group’s total sales while the sales attributable 
to the Group’s largest customer was approximately 0.2% of 
the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders, 
which to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest 
in the share capital of any of the five largest customers or 
suppliers of the Group.

於重大交易、安排及合約之權益 
 

主要客戶及供應商

92%

90%

0.7%
 

0.2%

5%
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Dur ing the year,  ne i ther  the Company nor any of  i ts 
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

DONATIONS

Dur ing the year,  the Group made donat ions tota l l ing 
HK$83,000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the 
Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 11 to 34.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of about 581 
employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set 
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, 
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are 
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to 
the Group’s operating results, individual performance and 
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share award scheme as 
incentives to directors and employees of the Group, details 
of the scheme are set out in the paragraph headed “Share 
award scheme and directors’ rights to acquire shares or 
debentures” above and in note 29 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

買賣或贖回本公司上市證券 

捐贈

83,000

企業管治

11 34

酬金政策

581

29
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

Details of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report 
on pages 20 to 24.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital 
of the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis 
to existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that the directors 
of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets and 
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or 
sustain by reason of any act done or omitted in or about the 
execution of their duty except in respect of any of their wilful 
negligence, wilful default, fraud or dishonesty. The Group 
has taken out insurance to cover Directors’ liabilities to third 
parties.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publ ic ly avai lable to the 
Company and within the knowledge of its directors as at 
the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual 
report, the percentage of the Company’s shares in the hands 
of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of 
issued shares.

審核委員會及薪酬委員會 

20 24

股本

28

優先購買權

獲准許之彌償條文

足夠公眾持股量

25%
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting 
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Him Kit, Dennis
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 19 June 2025

核數師

•

楊衍傑先生
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To the Shareholders of
Oriental Watch Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Oriental Watch Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set 
out on pages 88 to 195, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibi l i t ies under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
“Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

致：東方表行集團有限公司

各股東

意見

88 195

意見的基礎
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
關鍵審計事項 我們的審計如何對關鍵審計事項進行處理
Net realisable value assessment of watches
鐘錶之可變現淨值評估
We identified net realisable value assessment of 
watches included in inventories as a key audit 
matter  due to the s ign i f icance of  amount of 
watches to the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at the end of the reporting period, 
and signi f icant judgements and est imates by 
management in identifying slow-moving watches 
and determining the net realisable value.

The watches are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value and the management of the Group 
regularly reviews the Group’s allowance policy on 
watches and the estimates of allowances. The 
net realisable value of the watches is determined 
by considering the saleability of watches based 
on current market conditions, pricing policies and 
strategies, as well as the historical/latest available 
sales information of simi lar watches including 
the identif ication of slow-moving watches with 
reference to the ageing analysis. Details of the 
reversal  of  a l lowance for watches dur ing the 
year and the carrying amount of watches (net of 
allowance) as at 31 March 2025 are set out in 
notes 4, 9 and 21, respectively.

4 9 21

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable 
value assessment of watches included:

• O b t a i n i n g  a n  u n d e r s t a n d i n g  o f  t h e 
Group’s al lowance policy on watches and 
evaluating the effectiveness of controls over 
management’s assessment of allowance of 
watches, identifying slow-moving watches and 
determining the allowance for watches;

• Evaluating the allowance policy adopted by 
the management and the reasonableness 
of the est imat ion of net real isable value, 
with reference to current market conditions, 
historical and current sales information and 
ageing of inventories;

• E v a l u a t i n g  t h e  re a s o n a b l e n e s s  o f  t h e 
est imat ion of  the net  rea l isable va lue of 
watches with reference to sales information 
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, 
if any, and test the subsequent sales on a 
sample basis.

關鍵審計事項
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged wi th  governance are respons ib le  for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

其他資訊

董事及治理層就綜合財務報表須承
擔的責任 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

核數師就審計綜合財務報表承擔的
責任 

90

• 

• 

• 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
獨立核數師報告

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. I f we conclude that 
a mater ia l  uncerta inty ex ists,  we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the f inancial 
information of the entit ies or business units within 
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
group financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and review of the audit work 
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, actions taken to el iminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

核數師就審計綜合財務報表承擔的
責任  

• 

 

• 

• 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
獨立核數師報告

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit result ing in this 
independent audi tor’s report  is  Mr.  Tsang Yiu Chung 
(practising certificate number: P05398).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
19 June 2025

核數師就審計綜合財務報表承擔的
責任  

P05398

德勤 •關黃陳方會計師行
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
綜合損益及其他全面收益表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024
二零二五年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Revenue 5 3,449,857 3,638,758
Cost of goods sold (2,364,120) (2,488,028)

  

Gross profit 1,085,737 1,150,730
Other income 6 57,415 49,223
Other gains and losses 7 3,731 (3,854)
Reversal of impairment 

losses (impairment losses 
recognised) under expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model, net

 
 

— trade receivables — 3,077 (3,559)
Impairment losses recognised 

on property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use 
assets

 
 

(25,403) —
Distribution and selling 

expenses
— Expenses related to leases — 15 (201,345) (189,552)
— Other distribution and 

selling expenses
— 

(363,007) (353,950)
Administrative expenses (233,664) (253,206)
Finance costs 8 (11,768) (13,663)
Share of results of associates 21,957 16,578
Share of results of joint ventures (175) (2,273)

  

Profit before taxation 9 336,555 396,474
Income tax expense 11 (136,064) (145,324)

  

Profit for the year 200,491 251,150
  

Other comprehensive income 
(expense)
Item that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss:
 

Change in fair value of 
equity instruments at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”)

 
 

2,885 (4,565)
Items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or 
loss:

 

Exchange difference arising 
on translation of foreign 
operations

 

(12,578) (64,378)
Reclassification of 

cumulative translation 
reserve upon 
deregistration of a foreign 
operation — 497

  

Other comprehensive expense 
for the year (9,693) (68,446)

  

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 190,798 182,704
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
綜合損益及其他全面收益表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024
二零二五年

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Profit (loss) for the year 
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 200,496 250,488
Non-controlling interests (5) 662

  

200,491 251,150
  

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year 
attributable to:
Owners of the Company 190,852 182,093
Non-controlling interests (54) 611

  

190,798 182,704
  

Earnings per share
Basic 13 41.14 HK cents

港仙
51.40 HK cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
綜合財務狀況表
At 31 March 2025
於二零二五年三月三十一日

2025 2024
二零二五年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 194,213 248,761
Right-of-use assets 15 171,799 238,132
Investment properties 16 34,765 35,155
Deposits for acquisition 

of property, plant and 
equipment 7,774 360

Interests in associates 17 70,976 64,873
Interests in joint ventures 18 26,853 21,831
Equity instruments at FVTOCI

19 30,720 27,835
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”)

 

20 19,806 18,695
Loan receivables 22 — 54,260
Deferred tax assets 27 8,276 6,864
Property rental deposits 22,062 34,023
Long-term bank deposits 24 2,187 —

  

589,431 750,789
  

Current assets
Inventories 21 466,304 442,997
Loan receivables 22 65,930 21,988
Trade and other receivables 23 243,330 254,065
Financial assets at FVTPL  

20 11,807 12,226
Amount due from a joint 

venture 18 20,911 —
Taxation recoverable 9,719 6,776
Cash and cash equivalents 24 836,081 898,634

  

1,654,082 1,636,686
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 229,138 253,132
Contract liabilities 25 2,947 6,868
Lease liabilities 26 83,554 132,560
Taxation payable 31,352 36,390

  

346,991 428,950
  

Net current assets 1,307,091 1,207,736
  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,896,522 1,958,525
  

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 27 30,038 28,693
Lease liabilities 26 111,702 133,865

  

141,740 162,558
  

Net assets 1,754,782 1,795,967
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
綜合財務狀況表
At 31 March 2025
於二零二五年三月三十一日

2025 2024
二零二五年

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 48,736 48,736
Reserves 1,704,303 1,745,434

  

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company 1,753,039 1,794,170

Non-controlling interests 1,743 1,797
  

Total equity 1,754,782 1,795,967
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 195 
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 19 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yeung Him Kit, Dennis Yeung Man Yee, Shirley
楊衍傑 楊敏儀

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

88 195
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
綜合權益變動表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

Attributable to owners of the Company
本公司擁有人應佔 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve

Capital
redemption

reserve
Capital
reserve

Asset
revaluation

reserve
Special
reserve

Translation
reserve

Retained
profits

Dividend
reserve Sub-total

Non-
controlling

interests Total

股本 股份溢價 法定儲備
資本

贖回儲備 資本儲備
資產

重估儲備 特別儲備 換算儲備 保留溢利 股息儲備 小計 非控股權益 合計
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note c) (note b) (note a)
c b a

At 1 April 2023 48,736 303,250 112,916 425 840 3,530 5,180 12,224 1,263,873 143,771 1,894,745 1,186 1,895,931
Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 250,488 — 250,488 662 251,150
Change in fair value of equity 

instruments at FVTOCI  
— — — — — (4,565) — — — — (4,565) — (4,565)

Reclassification of cumulative 
translation reserve upon 
disposal of a foreign operation — — — — — — — 497 — — 497 — 497

Exchange difference arising 
on translation of foreign 
operations

 

— — — — — — — (64,327) — — (64,327) (51) (64,378)             

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year

 
— — — — — (4,565) — (63,830) 250,488 — 182,093 611 182,704

2023 final dividend paid  
— — — — — — — — — (36,552) (36,552) — (36,552)

2023 special dividend paid  
— — — — — — — — — (107,219) (107,219) — (107,219)

2024 interim dividend declared/
paid

 
— — — — — — — — (34,115) — (34,115) — (34,115)

2024 interim special dividend 
declared/paid — — — — — — — — (104,782) — (104,782) — (104,782)

2024 final dividend proposed  
— — — — — — — — (28,267) 28,267 — — —

2024 special dividend proposed  
— — — — — — — — (83,826) 83,826 — — —

Transfer — — 35,293 — — — — — (35,293) — — — —
Disposal of equity instruments at 

FVTOCI — — — — — (1,825) — — 1,825 — — — —             

At 31 March 2024
48,736 303,250 148,209 425 840 (2,860) 5,180 (51,606) 1,229,903 112,093 1,794,170 1,797 1,795,967

Profit (loss) for the year — — — — — — — — 200,496 — 200,496 (5) 200,491
Change in fair value of equity 

instruments at FVTOCI  
— — — — — 2,885 — — — — 2,885 — 2,885

Exchange difference arising 
on translation of foreign 
operations — — — — — — — (12,529) — — (12,529) (49) (12,578)             

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year

 
— — — — — 2,885 — (12,529) 200,496 — 190,852 (54) 190,798

2024 final dividend paid  
— — — — — — — — — (28,267) (28,267) — (28,267)

2024 special dividend paid  
— — — — — — — — — (83,826) (83,826) — (83,826)

2025 interim dividend declared/
paid

 
— — — — — — — — (29,729) — (29,729) — (29,729)

2025 interim special dividend 
declared/paid — — — — — — — — (90,161) — (90,161) — (90,161)

2025 final dividend proposed  
— — — — — — — — (20,469) 20,469 — — —

2025 special dividend proposed  
— — — — — — — — (60,920) 60,920 — — —

Transfer — — 34,911 — — — — — (34,911) — — — —             

At 31 March 2025  
48,736 303,250 183,120 425 840 25 5,180 (64,135) 1,194,209 81,389 1,753,039 1,743 1,754,782             
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
綜合權益變動表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

Notes:

(a) The special reserve of the Group comprises the difference 
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by 
the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share 
capital and special reserves of those companies which were 
acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation 
in 1993. The special reserves of these acquired subsidiaries 
represent the credit arising on reduction of their paid up 
share capital under the group reorganisation.

(b) Subsequent  to   ( “L i  Loong” ) 
becoming a subsidiary of the Company in May 2013, the 
Group further subscribed 6,000,000 shares of Li Loong in 
September 2013, for a cash consideration of New Taiwan 
Dollar (“NT$”) 60,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,698,000). 
The Group’s equity interest in Li Loong increased from 90% 
to 96%. This is accounted for as a deemed acquisition of 
additional interests in a subsidiary and has been recognised 
as capital reserve.

(c) In accordance with relevant laws and regulations for foreign 
investment enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of 
their profit after taxation applicable to enterprises established 
in the PRC to the statutory reserve.

(a) 

(b) 

6,000,000
60,000,000

15,698,000
90% 96%

(c) 

10%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 336,555 396,474
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment

 
54,120 50,489

Depreciation of right-of-use 
assets 105,431 122,014

(Reversal of) impairment losses 
recognised under ECL model, 
net

 

(3,077) 3,559
(Reversal of allowance) allowance 

for inventories, net
 

(8,957) 3,405
Interest expense 11,768 13,663
Interest income (27,011) (31,417)
Gain on leases termination/

modification
 

(2,900) (3,480)
Loss on disposal/written off of 

property, plant and equipment
 

839 396
Loss on deregistration of a 

subsidiary
 

— 497
Loss on disposal of partial interest 

in associates — 7,554
Impairment losses recognised on 

property, plant and equipment
 

11,174 —
Impairment losses recognised on 

right-of-use assets
 

14,229 —
Changes in fair value of 

investment properties 79 (259)
Changes in fair value of financial 

assets at FVTPL (901) 2,038
Changes in fair value of loan 

receivables at FVTPL (1,249) (3,442)
Share of results of associates (21,957) (16,578)
Share of results of joint ventures 175 2,273
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Operating cash flows before 
movements in working capital 468,318 547,186

Increase in inventories (15,732) (36,810)
Decrease in trade and other 

receivables 23,928 24,742
Decrease in trade and other payables (19,668) (19,455)
Decrease in contract liabilities (3,921) (13,805)
Increase in amount due from a joint 

venture (20,911) —
  

Cash generated from operations 432,014 501,858
Income taxes paid in Hong Kong (3,297) (8,981)
Income taxes paid in the PRC (134,731) (140,567)
Income taxes paid in other 

jurisdictions
 

(5,900) (6,107)
  

Net cash from operating activities 288,086 346,203
  

Investing activities
Placement of long-term bank 

deposits (2,200) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial 

assets at FVTPL 38,479 33,115
Purchase of financial assets at 

FVTPL (38,270) (36,403)
Repayment from loan receivable 23,237 —
Interest received 14,183 20,793
Dividends received from associates 13,173 11,129
Refund of rental deposits 5,922 —
Payment for rental deposits (2,885) (2,654)
Proceeds from disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 1,757 589
Proceeds from disposal of 

investment property 653 —
Purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (17,237) (53,123)
Deposits paid for acquisition of 

property, plant and equipment (7,414) (360)
Acquisition of investment in a joint 

venture (5,323) —
Purchase of investment properties — (28,520)
Purchase of equity instruments at 

FVTOCI — (22,126)
Subscription on preferred shares 

classified at amortised cost — (4,210)
Proceeds from disposal of equity 

instruments at FVTOCI
— 3,085

Proceeds from disposal of partial 
interests in associates — 10,848

  

Net cash from (used in) investing 
activities 24,075 (67,837)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Financing activities
Dividends paid (231,983) (282,668)
Repayment of lease liabilities (120,198) (127,128)
Repayment of bank loan (100,000) —
Bank loan raised 100,000 —
Interest paid (11,768) (13,663)

  

Net cash used in financing activities (363,949) (423,459)
  

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents (51,788) (145,093)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 898,634 1,078,783

Effect of foreign exchange rate 
changes (10,765) (35,056)

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year, represented by:  
bank balances and cash 836,081 898,634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Oriental Watch Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is 
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company 
with limited liability and acts as an investment holding 
company as well as engaged in watch trading. The 
ultimate beneficial owner and the major shareholders of 
the Company are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” to 
the annual report. The principal activities of its principal 
subsidiaries are set out in note 36. The shares of the 
Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of 
the registered office and principal place of business of 
the Company are disclosed in the corporate information 
section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional 
currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments  to  HKFRS Accoun t i ng  S tanda rds 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are 
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period 
beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong 
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

1. 一般資料

36

2. 應用新訂香港財務報告準則會
計準則及修訂本 

於本年度強制生效之香港財務報告準
則會計準則修訂本

16

1   
5  

1  

7  
 

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
that are mandatorily effective for the current year 
(Continued)

The  app l i ca t i on  o f  the  amendments  to  HKFRS 
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 
performance for the current and prior years and/or on 
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 
statements.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that 
have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements4

Amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards — Volume 
113

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 
and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date 
to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2027.

2. 應用新訂香港財務報告準則會
計準則及修訂本  

於本年度強制生效之香港財務報告準
則會計準則修訂本  

已頒佈但尚未生效之新訂香港財務報
告準則會計準則及修訂本

18 4

 — 11 3

9
 

7

 
3

9
 

7

3

10
28  1

21  2

1 

2 

3 

4 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS Account ing Standard 
ment ioned below, the d i rectors of  the Company 
anticipate that the application of all the amendments 
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the 
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18  “Presentat ion  and Disc losure  in 
Financial Statements”

H K F R S  1 8 ,  w h i c h  s e t s  o u t  r e q u i r e m e n t s  o n 
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will 
replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. 
T h i s  n e w  H K F R S  A c c o u n t i n g  S t a n d a rd ,  w h i l e 
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 
1, introduces new requirements to present specified 
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of 
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the 
f inancial statements and improve aggregation and 
disaggregat ion of  informat ion to be disc losed in 
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” 
and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. 
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash 
Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also 
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will 
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The 
application of the new standard is expected to affect 
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss 
and disclosures in the future f inancial statements. 
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed 
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.

2. 應用新訂香港財務報告準則會
計準則及修訂本  

已頒佈但尚未生效之新訂香港財務報
告準則會計準則及修訂本  

香港財務報告準則第18號「財務報表
的呈列及披露」

18

1

1

1
8

7
7
33

18

18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting 
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose 
of  preparat ion of  the consol idated f inanc ia l 
statements, information is considered material 
i f  such information is reasonably expected to 
influence decisions made by primary users. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of 
approving the consolidated financial statements, 
a reasonable expectat ion that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. 
Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料 
 

3.1 綜合財務報表編製基準 

3.2 重大會計政策資料

綜合基準

• 

• 

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control  of  the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Group gains control until the date when 
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”) are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total 
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the 
parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have  r i gh t s  t o  t he  ne t  a sse t s  o f  t he  j o i n t 
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

綜合基準

於聯營公司及合營公司之投資
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures  
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates 
and jo int  ventures are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. The financial statements 
of associates and joint ventures used for equity 
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform 
accounting policies as those of the Group for like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
Under the equity method, an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate or joint 
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an 
associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s 
interest in that associate or joint venture (which 
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in the 
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues 
recognising its share of further losses. Additional 
losses are recognised only to the extent that 
the Group has incurred legal or construct ive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is 
accounted for using the equity method from the 
date on which the investee becomes an associate 
or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment 
in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of 
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included within the carrying amount of the 
investment.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

於聯營公司及合營公司之投資
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures  
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective 
evidence that the interest in an associate or 
a  jo in t  venture may be impai red.  When any 
object ive evidence exists, the ent ire carrying 
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is 
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 
36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value 
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its 
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised 
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, 
that forms part of the carrying amount of the 
investment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates and 
joint ventures

When the Group reduces its ownership interest 
in an associate or a joint venture but the Group 
continues to use the equity method, the Group 
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the 
gain or loss that had previously been recognised 
in other comprehensive income relating to that 
reduction in ownership interest i f that gain or 
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the 
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s policies relating to 
contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

於聯營公司及合營公司之投資

36

客戶合約收益

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition under 
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such 
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms 
and conditions of the contract are subsequently 
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a 
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component 
and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease 
component and the aggregate stand-alone price 
of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease 
component and are accounted for by applying 
other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments 
on short-term leases are recognised as expense 
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis 
over the lease term.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

租賃

16

12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the 
lease liability;

• any lease payments  made at  or  be fore 
the commencement date, less any lease 
incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; 
and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the 
Group in restoring the site on which it is 
located or restoring the underlying asset 
to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group presents r ight-of-use assets as a 
separate line item on the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

租賃

• 

• 

• 

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted 
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are 
considered as addit ional lease payments and 
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group 
recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid 
at that date. In calculating the present value of 
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if 
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

The lease payments inc lude f ixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable.

Var iable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use 
assets, and are recognised as expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are 
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

租賃

9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets)  whenever the lease term has 
changed, in which case the related lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the date 
of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate 
line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a 
separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the 
lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by 
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and 
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the 
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for 
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the 
lease liability, less any lease incentive receivables, 
based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

租賃

• 

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease 
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to 
the relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified 
contract contains a lease component and one or 
more additional lease or non-lease components, 
the Group al locates the considerat ion in the 
modified contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease 
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of 
the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the f inancial statements of each 
individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates 
o f  exchange preva i l ing  on the dates  o f  the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement 
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

租賃

外幣
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated 
f inancial statements, the assets and l iabil it ies 
of the Group’s foreign operations are translated 
into the presentation currency of the Company 
( i .e .  HK$)  us ing exchange rate preva i l ing at 
the end of the report ing per iod. Income and 
expenses items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates f luctuate signif icantly during the period, 
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognised in OCI 
and accumulated in equity under the heading of 
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current 
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before 
taxation because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

外幣

稅項
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

D e f e r re d  t a x  i s  r e c o g n i s e d  o n  t e m p o r a r y 
d i f ferences between the carry ing amount of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits wil l  be avai lable against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time 
of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable 
and deductible temporary differences. In addition, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences arises from initial recognition 
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in 
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets ar is ing from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

稅項
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is 
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
fo l low f rom the manner  in  which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for 
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises 
the r ight-of-use assets and the related lease 
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the 
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use 
assets or the lease liabilities.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

稅項
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions 
are attributable to the lease liabilities in which the 
tax deductions are attributable to ultimate costs 
incurred, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income 
Taxes” requirements to the lease liabilities, the 
provisions for decommissioning and restoration and 
the related assets separately. The Group recognises 
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the 
extent that it is probable that the taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability 
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
they relate to income taxes levied to the same 
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognised in OCI or directly in equity, in 
which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in OCI or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets 
that are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, or for administrative purposes. 
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if 
any.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

稅項
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綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group make payments for ownership 
in terests  o f  proper t ies  wh ich inc ludes both 
leasehold land and building elements, the entire 
consideration is allocated between the leasehold 
land and the building elements in proportion to 
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the 
extent the allocation of the relevant payments 
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land 
is  presented as “ r ight-of-use assets”  in  the 
consol idated statement of f inancial  posit ion. 
When the considerat ion cannot be al located 
reliably between non-lease building elements and 
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, 
the entire properties are classified as property, 
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the 
cost of assets less their residual values over 
their estimated useful l ives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

An i tem of property,  p lant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the 
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss on the 
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or 
loss.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

物業、機器及設備
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group 
reviews the carrying amounts of i ts property, 
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the relevant asset is est imated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated 
individually. When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount individually, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, 
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant 
cash-generat ing unit  when a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be established, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash generating units (“CGU”) for which 
a reasonable and consistent al locat ion basis 
can be established. The recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit or group 
of cash-generating units to which the corporate 
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying 
amount of the relevant CGU or group of cash-
generating units.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

物業、機器及設備及使用權資產
之減值
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment 
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that ref lects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carry ing amount, the carry ing amount of the 
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The carrying amount of an 
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair 
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its 
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount 
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have 
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata 
to the other assets of the unit or a group of cash-
generated units. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

物業、機器及設備及使用權資產
之減值
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the 
consol idated statement of  f inancia l  pos i t ion 
include:

a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and 
demand deposits; and

b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term deposits generally with original maturity 
of three months or less. Cash equivalents are 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment 
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn 
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment propert ies are in i t ia l ly  measured 
a t  cos t ,  i nc lud ing  any  d i rec t l y  a t t r ibu tab le 
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value, 
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued 
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in 
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon 
disposal  or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

現金及等同現金項目

a) 

b) 

投資物業
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories, which are finished goods held for sale, 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is calculated on a specific identification 
basis for watches. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated sell ing price for inventories less 
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale 
and non-incremental costs which the Group must 
incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business 
m o d e l  w h o s e  o b j e c t i v e  i s  t o  c o l l e c t 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of pr incipal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

存貨

金融工具

• 

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of pr incipal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

A l l  o ther  f i nanc ia l  assets  a re  subsequent l y 
measu red  a t  FVTPL ,  excep t  t ha t  a t  i n i t i a l 
recognition of a financial asset the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI i f 
that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an 
acquirer in a business combinat ion to which 
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

• 

• 

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• i t  has been acqui red pr inc ipa l ly  for  the 
purpose of selling in the near term;

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio 
of identif ied financial instruments that the 
Group manages together and has a recent 
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a financial asset that are required to be measured 
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured 
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

• 

• 

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest  income is recognised us ing the 
effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. 
Interest income is calculated by applying 
the  e f fec t i ve  in te res t  ra te  to  the  gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset, except 
for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired. For financial assets 
that  have subsequent ly  become cred i t -
impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the 
amortised cost of the financial asset from the 
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the 
credit-impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
from the beginning of the reporting period 
following the determination that the asset is 
no longer credit-impaired.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

(i) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 
are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value recognised in OCI and accumulated 
in the asset revaluation reserve; and are 
not subject to impairment assessment. The 
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity 
investments ,  and wi l l  be t ransfer red to 
retained profits.

Dividends on these investments in equity 
ins t ruments  are  recogn ised in  pro f i t  o r 
loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established, unless the dividends 
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment. Dividends are included in 
the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

(ii) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria 
for being measured at amortised cost or 
FVTOCI  nor  des ignated as  FVTOCI  a re 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial  assets at FVTPL are measured 
at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period, with any fair value gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or 
loss recognised in profit or loss included any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in the “other gains and 
losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under 
ECL model on financial assets (including trade 
and other receivables, refundable property rental 
and other deposits, loan receivables at amortised 
cost, amount due from a joint venture, long-term 
bank deposits and bank balances) which are 
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. 
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

(iii) 

9

9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) 

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from 
all possible default events over the expected life of 
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL 
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL 
that is expected to result from default events that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current 
conditions at the reporting date as well as the 
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises l i fetime ECL for 
trade receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, in which case the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime 
ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the l ikel ihood or r isk of a default 
occurring since initial recognition.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that financial asset have occurred.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

9

12
12

12

12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss.

On derecognit ion of  an investment in equity 
instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously accumulated in the asset 
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or 
loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either 
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financia l  l iabi l i t ies including trade and other 
payables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that 
requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because 
a specified debtor fails to make payments when 
due in accordance with the terms of  a debt 
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities 
are measured init ial ly at their fair values. It is 
subsequently measured at the higher of: 

• the amount of the loss allowance determined 
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

• the amount initially recognised less, where 
a p p ro p r i a t e ,  c u m u l a t i v e  a m o r t i s a t i o n 
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecogn ises f inanc ia l  l i ab i l i t ies 
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
a re  d i scharged cance l l ed  o r  have  exp i red . 
The di fference between the carry ing amount 
of the f inancial l iabi l i ty derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.

3. 綜合財務報表編製基準及重大
會計政策資料  
 

3.2 重大會計政策資料  

金融工具

• 
9

• 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
the directors of the Company are required to make 
judgments, est imates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The es t imates  and under l y ing  assumpt ions  a re 
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from 
those involv ing est imat ions (see below),  that the 
directors of the Company have made in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with 
extension options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease 
term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that 
include extension option, specifically, the leases relating 
to retail shops. The assessment of whether the Group 
is reasonably certain to exercise extension options 
impacts the lease term, which signif icantly affects 
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets 
recognised.

4. 主要會計判斷及估計不確定性
之主要來源 

應用會計政策之關鍵判斷

釐定包含續租選擇權之合約之租期 
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綜合財務報表附註
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截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
(Continued)

Determination on lease term of contracts with 
extension options (Continued)

When assessing reasonable certa inty,  the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances including 
economic incentives/penalties for exercising or not 
exercising the options. Factors considered include:

• contractual terms and conditions for the optional 
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether 
the amount of payments in the optional periods is 
below the market rates); and

• the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken 
by Group.

The details of the leases with extension option are set 
out in note 15.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumption concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
a t  the  end o f  the  repor t ing per iod,  that  have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

4. 主要會計判斷及估計不確定性
之主要來源  

應用會計政策之關鍵判斷

釐定包含續租選擇權之合約之租期

• 

• 

15

估計不確定性之主要來源
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綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value assessment of watches

Watches are stated at the lower of cost and net 
rea l isab le va lue.  The management of  the Group 
reviews regularly the suitability of allowance policy and 
estimates the amount of allowance for inventories. The 
net realisable value of the watches is determined by 
considering the saleability of watches based on current 
market conditions, pricing policies and strategies, as 
well as historical/latest available sales information of 
similar watches, and the identification of slow-moving 
watches with reference to the ageing analysis. I f 
conditions which have an impact on the net realisable 
value of inventories deteriorate/improve, additional 
allowances/reversal of allowances may be required. 
Details of the reversal of allowance for slow-moving 
watches during the year and the carrying amount of 
watches (net of allowance) as at 31 March 2025 are set 
out in notes 9 and 21, respectively.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is 
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and 
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether 
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect 
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an 
CGU can be supported by the recoverable amount, 
in the case of value in use, the net present value of 
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the 
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key 
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable 
amounts inc luding cash f low pro ject ions and an 
appropriate discount rate.

4. 主要會計判斷及估計不確定性
之主要來源  

估計不確定性之主要來源

鐘錶之可變現淨值評估

9
21

物業、機器及設備以及使用權資產估
計減值

(1)

(2)

3
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As  a t  31 March 2025,  the  car ry ing  amounts  o f 
proper ty ,  p lant  and equ ipment  and r ight-of-use 
assets were HK$194,213,000 and HK$171,799,000 
(2024:HK$248,761,000 and HK$238,132,000) respectively, 
after taking into account the impairment losses of 
HK$11,174,000 and HK$14,229,000 (2024: Nil and Nil) in 
respect of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets. Details of the impairment of right-of-use assets, 
property, plant and equipment, are disclosed in notes 14 
and 15 respectively.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operation is principally sales of watches. 
The Group’s revenue represents consideration received 
or receivable from sales of watches.

Information reported to the executive directors of the 
Company, being the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”), for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance is analysed based 
on the geographical markets of the goods sold, which 
is consistent with the basis of the Group’s organisation 
for managing the business operations.

Specifically, the Group had three operating segments, 
being (a) Hong Kong, (b) the PRC and (c) Macau. No 
operating segments identified by the CODM have been 
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the 
Group.

4. 主要會計判斷及估計不確定性
之主要來源  

估計不確定性之主要來源

物業、機器及設備以及使用權資產估
計減值

194,213,000
171,799,000

248,761,000 238,132,000

11,174,000
14,229,000

14
15

5. 收益及分部資料

(a) (b) (c)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Sales of watches (revenue recognised at a point in 
time)

For sales of watches, revenue is recognised when 
control of the goods has been transferred, being at the 
point the customer purchases the goods at the retail 
shop, including self-operating shops and the shops at 
department stores. Payment of the transaction price is 
due immediately at the point the customer purchases 
the goods. A credit period of not more than 30 days is 
granted to department stores who receive the payment 
on behalf of the Group at the point the customer 
purchases the goods.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. 
As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers”, the transaction price allocated to 
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

5. 收益及分部資料  

銷售鐘錶（收益於某一時間點確認） 

30

15



Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   131   Annual Report 2025  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Sales of watches (revenue recognised at a point in 
time) (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment 
revenue and results by operating segments:

Segment revenue —  
recognised at  
a point in time Segment (loss) profit

分部收益 — 按時點確認 分部（虧損）溢利
2025 2024 2025 2024

二零二五年 二零二五年
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Hong Kong 757,034 943,518 (57,077) 35,644
The PRC 2,617,485 2,570,663 462,553 471,223
Macau 75,338 124,577 (83) 17,327

    

3,449,857 3,638,758 405,393 524,194
  

Unallocated other 
income 25,853 29,439

Unallocated corporate 
expenses (119,435) (166,301)

Unallocated other gains 
and losses 4,020 (5,163)

Interest on bank loan (1,058) —
Share of results of 

associates 21,957 16,578
Share of results of joint 

ventures (175) (2,273)
  

Profit before taxation 336,555 396,474
  

5. 收益及分部資料  

銷售鐘錶（收益於某一時間點確認）
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Sales of watches (revenue recognised at a point in 
time) (Continued)

The accounting policies used to determine segment 
revenue and results are the same as the accounting 
policies adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. Segment ( loss)  prof i t  represents the 
(loss) profit before taxation earned by each segment 
without allocation of share of results of associates 
and joint ventures, interest on bank loan, unallocated 
other income, unallocated other gains and losses, and 
unallocated corporate expenses. Unallocated corporate 
expenses include auditor’s remuneration, directors’ 
emoluments, expenses of the Group’s headquarter 
which are unallocated between the operating segments 
and operating expenses of inactive companies. This is 
the measure reported to the CODM of the Group for 
the purposes of resources allocation and performance 
assessment.

The Group has no customer who contributed over 10% 
of the total revenue of the Group for any of the years 
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

All segment revenue is generated from external customers 
for both years.

5. 收益及分部資料  

銷售鐘錶（收益於某一時間點確認）

10%
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Sales of watches (revenue recognised at a point in 
time) (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities by operating segments.

Segment assets Segment liabilities
分部資產 分部負債

2025 2024 2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Hong Kong 513,729 552,601 154,736 192,313
The PRC 548,532 592,454 145,928 155,920
Macau 43,217 72,698 10,293 48,339

    

Segment total 1,105,478 1,217,753 310,957 396,572
Unallocated 1,138,035 1,169,722 177,774 194,936

    

Group’s total 2,243,513 2,387,475 488,731 591,508
    

The segment assets by location of assets are the same 
as by location of markets of the goods sold.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance 
and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to operating segments other 
than investment properties, interests in associates, 
interests in joint ventures, equity instruments at 
FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, loan receivables, 
deferred tax assets, long-term bank deposits, amount 
due from a joint venture, taxation recoverable, cash 
and cash equivalents, and other unallocated corporate 
assets; and

• all liabilities are allocated to operating segments 
other than taxation payable, deferred tax liabilities, 
and other unallocated corporate liabilities.

5. 收益及分部資料  

銷售鐘錶（收益於某一時間點確認）

• 

• 
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment results or 
segment assets:

2025 2024
二零二五年

Hong Kong The PRC Macau

Segment 
and

Group’s 
total Hong Kong The PRC Macau

Segment 
and

Group’s 
total

香港 中國 澳門
分部及

本集團總計
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

Additions of property, plant and 
equipment 5,719 7,519 106 13,344 24,096 31,368 59 55,523

Additions of right-of-use assets 57,943 33,445 12,985 104,373 36,021 71,125 — 107,146
Gain on leases termination/modification — 1,228 1,672 2,900 784 2,696 — 3,480
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (32,088) (21,943) (89) (54,120) (34,185) (16,217) (87) (50,489)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (71,701) (29,322) (4,408) (105,431) (80,270) (26,780) (14,964) (122,014)
(Loss) gain on disposal/written off of 

property, plant and equipment
 

— (839) — (839) (636) 240 — (396)
Impairment losses recognised on 

property, plant and equipment
 

(11,174) — — (11,174) — — — —
Impairment losses recognised on  

right-of-use assets (14,229) — — (14,229) — — — —
Impairment losses reversed (recognised) 

under ECL model — trade receivables
 

 — — 3,077 — 3,077 — (3,559) — (3,559)
Reversal of allowance (allowance) for 

inventories 7,278 521 1,158 8,957 (3,879) (1,011) 1,485 (3,405)
        

Note:  The amounts of interests in associates and share of 
results of associates, and the interests in joint ventures 
and share of results of joint ventures, are presented to 
the CODM as a whole but not included in the measure 
of segment profit or loss or segment assets.

5. 收益及分部資料  

其他分部資料
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

Information about the Group’s non-current assets 
(excluding financial instruments, deferred tax assets, 
interests in associates and interests in joint ventures) by 
geographical location of the assets is detailed below:

Carrying amount of 
non-current assets
非流動資產之賬面值

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Hong Kong 259,346 325,322
The PRC 96,732 115,004
Macau 17,708 46,927
Other 34,765 35,155

  

408,551 522,408
  

6. OTHER INCOME

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Interest income from bank 14,183 20,793
Interest income from loan 

receivables at amortised cost 11,670 9,528
Interest income from rental 

deposits 1,158 1,096
Government subsidies (note) 21,426 9,487
Rental income 2,415 1,179
Others 6,563 7,140

  

57,415 49,223
  

Note:  During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the 
Group recognised government grants in respect of 
unconditional subsidies received for subsidising the 
Group’s business in the PRC.

5. 收益及分部資料  

其他分部資料

6. 其他收入
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7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Changes in fair value of loan 
receivables at FVTPL 1,249 3,442

Changes in fair value of financial 
assets at FVTPL 901 (2,038)

Changes in fair value of investment 
properties (79) 259

Loss on deregistration of a 
subsidiary — (497)

Loss on disposal of partial interests 
in associates — (7,554)

Gain on leases termination/
modification 2,900 3,480

Loss on disposal/written off of 
property, plant and equipment (839) (396)

Net exchange (losses) gains (831) 282
Others 430 (832)

  

3,731 (3,854)
  

8. FINANCE COSTS

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Interest on lease liabilities 10,710 13,663
Interest on bank loan 1,058 —

  

11,768 13,663
  

7. 其他收益及虧損

8. 融資成本
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Profit before taxation has been 
arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 10 89,365 111,787
Other staff costs 178,971 169,648
Other staff’s retirement benefits 

scheme contributions 4,832 4,547
  

Total staff costs 273,168 285,982
  

Impairment losses recognised 
related to the retail shops
— property, plant and equipment — 11,174 —
— right-of-use assets — 14,229 —

Auditor’s remuneration 3,600 3,600
Cost of inventories recognised 

as expense (including reversal 
of allowance for inventories of 
HK$8,957,000 (2024: allowance 
for inventories of HK$3,405,000))

8,957,000  

3,405,000 2,364,120 2,488,028
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 54,120 50,489
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 105,431 122,014

  

9. 除稅前溢利
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the 
year, disclosed pursuant to the appl icable List ing 
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The 
emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2024: 
six) directors were as follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年

Fees

Salaries
and other

benefits

Retirement
benefits
scheme

contributions

Performance-
related

incentive
bonus Total Fees

Salaries
and other

benefits

Retirement
benefits
scheme

contributions

Performance-
related

incentive
bonus Total

袍金
薪金及

其他福利
退休福利
計劃供款

表現相關
獎勵花紅 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

(note) (note)
（附註）

Executive directors
Mr. Yeung Him Kit, 

Dennis — 4,936 576 46,200 51,712 — 4,685 540 60,000 65,225
Madam Yeung Man 

Yee, Shirley — 1,950 270 15,400 17,620 — 1,768 245 20,000 22,013
Mr. Lam Hing Lun, 

Alain — 3,378 414 15,400 19,192 — 3,253 396 20,000 23,649

Independent non-
executive directors
Mr. Choi Man Chau, 

Michael 300 — — — 300 300 — — — 300
Mr. Sun Dai Hoe 

Harold 300 — — — 300 300 — — — 300
Mr. Sin Nga Yan, 

Benedict1

1

241 — — — 241 — — — — —
Dr. Li Sau Hung, 

Eddy2

2

— — — — — 300 — — — 300
          

841 10,264 1,260 77,000 89,365 900 9,706 1,181 100,000 111,787
          

Note:  During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the 
performance related incentive bonus payments are 
determined with reference to the operating results and 
individual performance.

1 Appointed on 12 June 2024
2 Passed away on 25 March 2024

 

1 
2 

10. 董事及僱員之酬金 
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Yeung Him Kit, Dennis is also the managing director 
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above 
include those for services rendered by him as the chief 
executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were 
for their services in connection with the management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The 
emoluments of independent non-executive directors 
shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included three (2024: 
three) directors of the Company, detai ls of whose 
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the 
remaining two (2024: two) highest paid individuals are 
as follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Employees
— basic salaries and allowances — 4,200 4,240
— bonus — 7,850 7,500
— retirement benefits scheme 

contributions
— 

90 84
  

12,140 11,824
  

Note:  The bonus is determined based on performance of the 
employees.

10. 董事及僱員之酬金  

僱員酬金
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of employees
僱員人數

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001
4,000,000 — 1

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001
4,500,000 1 —

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001
8,000,000 — 1

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001
8,500,000 1 —

  

There was no arrangement under which a director 
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year. No emoluments were 
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company and/
or five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join 
or as compensation for loss of office.

10. 董事及僱員之酬金  

僱員酬金
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Current tax:
Hong Kong 92 1,788
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 115,617 119,864
Other jurisdictions 9 2,556
Withholding tax on dividend 

income from associates
 

2,766 2,337
Withholding tax on dividend 

income from subsidiaries
 

16,502 15,017
  

134,986 141,562
  

(Over)underprovision in prior years:  

Hong Kong (16) 2,475
Other jurisdictions 1,167 1,211

  

1,151 3,686
  

Deferred taxation (credit) charge 
(note 27)

 
27 (73) 76

  

136,064 145,324
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years is calculated 
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the 
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is 
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits 
tax rates regime. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 
million of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the 
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax 
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the 
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% 
for both years, after setting off of tax losses brought 
forward, if any.

Taxation in other jurisdictions mainly represent Macau 
SAR Complementary Tax, which is calculated at the 
rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profits for 
both years.

11. 所得稅開支

16.5%

2,000,000 8.25%

16.5%

25%

12%
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the 
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as 
follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Profit before taxation 336,555 396,474
  

Tax at the applicable income tax 
rate of 16.5% (2024: 16.5%)

16.5%
16.5%

55,532 65,418
Tax effect of share of results of 

associates (3,623) (2,735)
Tax effect of share of results of joint 

ventures 29 375
Tax effect of expenses not 

deductible for tax purposes 5,110 3,407
Tax effect of income not taxable for 

tax purposes (4,382) (7,178)
Tax effect of tax losses not 

recognised 22,628 22,646
Tax effect of temporary differences 

attributable to undistributed 
profits of associates and joint 
ventures 4,566 3,799

Tax effect of temporary differences 
attributable to undistributed 
profits of subsidiaries 15,710 16,069

Effect of different tax rates of 
subsidiaries operating in other 
jurisdictions 39,731 39,518

Underprovision in prior years 1,151 3,686
Utilisation of tax losses previously 

not recognised (72) (185)
Income tax at concessionary rate (165) (165)
Others (151) 669

  

Tax expense for the year 136,064 145,324
  

11. 所得稅開支



Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   143   Annual Report 2025  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

12. DIVIDENDS

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Dividends recognised as distribution 
during the year:
Interim dividend for financial year 

ended 31 March 2025 of 6.1 HK 
cents (2024: 7.0 HK cents) per 
share on 487,358,224 (2024: 
487,358,224) shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
6.1  
7.0 29,729 34,115

Interim special dividend for financial 
year ended 31 March 2025 of 18.5 
HK cents (2024: 21.5 HK cents) 
per share on 487,358,224 (2024: 
487,358,224) shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
18.5

21.5
90,161 104,782

Final dividend for financial year ended 
31 March 2024 of 5.8 HK cents 
(2023: 7.5 HK cents) per share on 
487,358,224 (2023: 487,358,224) 
shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
5.8  

7.5 28,267 36,552
Special dividend for financial year 

ended 31 March 2024 of 17.2 
HK cents (2023: 22.0 HK cents) 
per share on 487,358,224 (2023: 
487,358,224) shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
17.2

22.0 83,826 107,219
  

231,983 282,668
  

Dividends proposed after year end 
(note) :
Proposed final dividend for financial 

year ended 31 March 2025 of 4.2 
HK cents (2024: 5.8 HK cents) 
per share on 487,358,224 (2024: 
487,358,224) shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
4.2  

5.8 20,469 28,267
Proposed special dividend for 

financial year ended 31 March 2025 
of 12.5 HK cents (2024: 17.2 HK 
cents) per share on 487,358,224 
(2024: 487,358,224) shares

487,358,224
487,358,224  

 
12.5

17.2 60,920 83,826
  

81,389 112,093
  

12. 股息
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12. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Note:  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final 
dividend and a special dividend for the year ended 
31 March 2025 have been proposed by the directors 
of  the Company and are subject to approval  by 
the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable 
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Earnings 盈利
Earnings for the purposes of basic 

earnings per share (profit for the 
year attributable to owners of 
the Company) 200,496 250,488

  

2025 2024
二零二五年

’000 ’000
千股

Number of shares 股份數目
Weighted average number of 

ordinary shares for the purpose 
of basic earnings per share 487,358 487,358

  

For both years, no diluted earnings per share have been 
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares 
outstanding for the years.

12. 股息

 

13. 每股盈利
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures

and
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

租賃
土地及樓宇

租賃
物業裝修

傢俬、
裝置及設備 汽車 合計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2023 188,216 200,008 105,340 11,383 504,947
Exchange adjustment (1,263) (3,998) (1,167) — (6,428)
Additions — 48,038 6,326 1,159 55,523
Disposals/written off — (20,182) (2,339) (647) (23,168)

     

At 31 March 2024 186,953 223,866 108,160 11,895 530,874
Exchange adjustment (124) (235) (118) (11) (488)
Additions — 9,654 2,211 1,479 13,344
Disposals/written off — (30,757) (5,790) (1,022) (37,569)

     

At 31 March 2025 186,829 202,528 104,463 12,341 506,161
     

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2023 59,280 139,193 55,945 3,894 258,312
Exchange adjustment (1,021) (2,628) (856) — (4,505)
Provided for the year 4,260 32,872 11,951 1,406 50,489
Eliminated on disposals/

written off — (19,723) (2,045) (415) (22,183)
     

At 31 March 2024 62,519 149,714 64,995 4,885 282,113
Exchange adjustment (111) (282) (87) (9) (489)
Provided for the year 4,009 36,783 11,848 1,480 54,120
Impairment losses 

recognised in profit or 
loss — 11,174 — — 11,174

Eliminated on disposals/
written off — (28,802) (5,246) (922) (34,970)

     

At 31 March 2025 66,417 168,587 71,510 5,434 311,948
     

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2025 120,412 33,941 32,953 6,907 194,213

     

At 31 March 2024 124,434 74,152 43,165 7,010 248,761
     

14. 物業、機器及設備
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of 
property, plant and equipment, after taking into account 
the residual values, using straight-line method at the 
following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and 
buildings

Over 20 years for those located 
in the PRC or 50 years for 
those located in Hong Kong or 
remaining term of land lease, 
whichever is shorter

Leasehold 
improvements

20% - 33 1
3 % or over the lease 

terms, if shorter
Furniture, fixtures 

and equipment
10 - 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Owner-occupied leasehold land located in Hong 
Kong and the PRC is included in property, plant and 
equipment because the allocation between the land 
portion and building portion cannot be made reliably.

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

The carrying value of property 
comprises:

Properties located in:
Hong Kong 118,302 121,257
PRC 2,110 3,177

  

120,412 124,434
  

14. 物業、機器及設備  

20
50

 20% - 331
3 %

10 - 20%

20%
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, as certain retail 
shops in Hong Kong and the PRC incurred operating 
losses, the management of the Group concluded 
there was an indication for impairment and conducted 
impairment assessment on certain property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets of relevant retail 
shops. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
these retail shops, each represents an individual CGU, 
to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount individually.

The recoverable amount of CGUs has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation.

Based on the result of the assessment, management 
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount 
of certain CGUs is lower than the respective carrying 
amount. The relevant retail shops are not expected 
to resume profitable position before the end of the 
relevant leases. As a result, impairment losses of 
HK$11,174,000 and HK$14,229,000 have been 
recognised against the carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. (2024: 
the management of the Group determined that the 
recoverable amount of those CGUs with impairment 
indication is higher than the respective carrying amount 
and no impairment loss has been recognised for the 
year ended 31 March 2024.)

14. 物業、機器及設備  

11,174,000
14,229,000
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased
properties
租賃物業
HK$’000

As at 31 March 2025 於二零二五年三月三十一日
Carrying amount 171,799

 

As at 31 March 2024 於二零二四年三月三十一日
Carrying amount 238,132

 

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Expenses related to leases 租賃之相關開支
Expenses relating to short-term 

leases 37,020 20,329
Variable lease payments not 

included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities 72,340 59,400

Depreciation for the year 105,431 122,014
  

214,791 201,743
  

Analysed as:
Distribution and selling expenses 201,345 189,552
Administrative expenses 13,446 12,191

  

214,791 201,743
  

Additions to right-of-use assets 104,373 107,146
  

Total cash outflow for leases 240,268 220,520
  

15. 使用權資產
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various retail shops 
and offices for its operations. Lease contracts are 
entered into for fixed terms of 1 year to 5 years (2024: 
1 year to 7 years), but may have extension options as 
described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term 
and assessing the length of  the non-cancel lable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract 
and determines the period for which the contract is 
enforceable.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group 
entered into new lease agreements for the use of 
leased properties for 1 year to 3 years (2024: 1 year to 
5 years). The Group recognised additions to right-of-
use assets of HK$22,910,000 (2024: HK$87,948,000) 
and related lease liabilities of HK$22,596,000 (2024: 
HK$87,468,000) upon commencement of leases, 
which constitutes non-cash transactions. In addition, 
lease terms of certain leases were extended through 
modif icat ion and the Group recognised addit ions 
to r ight-of-use assets of  HK$81,463,000 (2024: 
HK$19,198,000 )  and re la ted  lease  l i ab i l i t i es  o f 
HK$80,405,000 (2024: HK$18,913,000) at the effective 
date of modification. Furthermore, during the year 
ended 31 March 2025, before the commencement 
of the extension period of a lease, the Group had 
entered into a renewal agreement with term of years 
shorter than the term of years per extension option 
and accordingly, the Group recognised reduction 
to r ight-of-use assets of  HK$44,619,000 (2024: 
HK$54,812,000) and lease liabilities of HK$46,291,000 
(2024: HK$55,596,000) as the leases were considered 
mod i f i ed ,  and a  ga in  on leases  mod i f i ca t ion  o f 
HK$1,672,000 was recognised in profit or loss (2024: 
HK$784,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group early 
terminated a lease which constitutes lease modification. 
As a result, the Group has derecognised right-of-use 
assets of HK$6,027,000 (2024: HK$4,123,000) and 
lease liabilities of HK$7,255,000 (2024: HK$6,819,000), 
and a gain on leases termination of HK$1,228,000 was 
recognised in profit or loss (2024: HK$2,696,000).

15. 使用權資產

22,910,000
87,948,000

22,596,000
87,468,000

81,463,000
19,198,000

80,405,000
18,913,000

44,619,000
54,812,000
46,291,000

55,596,000
1,672,000

784,000

6,027,000
4,123,000

7,255,000
6,819,000

1,228,000
2,696,000
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group regularly entered into short-term lease for 
retails shops in the PRC with duration of one year or 
less and the portfolio of short-term leases is similar for 
both years.

Variable lease payments

Leases of retail shops, excluding short-term leases, are 
either with only fixed lease payments or contain variable 
lease payment that are based on certain percentage of 
sales. The payment terms are common in retail shops 
in Hong Kong and the PRC where Group operates.

For leases of retail shops that contain both fixed lease 
payments and variable lease payment that are based 
on 7% to 14% (2024: 8% to 14%) of sales, the amount 
of fixed and variable lease payments paid/payable to 
relevant lessors for the years are as below:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Number
of shops

Fixed
payments

Variable
payments

Total
payments

店舖數目 固定付款 可變付款 付款總額
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Retail shops without 
variable lease 
payments 9 17,749 — 17,749

Retail shops with 
variable lease 
payments 11 36,997 72,340 109,337

    

20 54,746 72,340 127,086
    

15. 使用權資產

可變租賃付款

7% 14% 8%
14%

截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Variable lease payments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Number
of shops

Fixed
payments

Variable
payments

Total
payments

店舖數目 固定付款 可變付款 付款總額
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Retail shops without 
variable lease 
payments 10 10,944 — 10,944

Retail shops with 
variable lease 
payments 12 33,626 59,400 93,026

    

22 44,570 59,400 103,970
    

The overall financial effect of using variable payment 
terms is that higher rental costs are incurred by shops 
with higher sales. Variable rent expenses are expected 
to continue to represent a similar proportion of shops 
sales in future years.

Extension options

The Group has extension options for certain leases 
of retail shops. This is used to maximise operational 
f lexibi l i ty in terms of managing the assets used in 
the Group’s operations. The extension option held is 
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective 
lessor.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date 
whether  i t  i s  reasonably  cer ta in  to exerc ise the 
extension options. The directors of the Company 
concluded the Group is reasonably certain to exercise 
all leases with extension options considering all relevant 
facts and circumstances including economic incentives 
for exercising the options. As at 31 March 2024, the 
carrying amount of lease liability over the periods of 
extension option is HK$44,948,000 (2025: Nil).

15. 使用權資產

可變租賃付款

截至二零二四年三月三十一日止年度

續租選擇權

44,948,000
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Extension options (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain 
to exercise an extension option, upon the occurrence 
of either a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. 
During the year, there is no such triggering event.

Restriction on assets

In  add i t ion,  lease l iab i l i t ies  o f  HK$195,256,000 
(2024: HK$266,425,000) are recognised with related 
r igh t -o f -use  asse ts  o f  HK$171,799,000 (2024: 
HK$238,132,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants other than 
the security interests in the leased assets that are held 
by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be 
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities 
are set out in notes 26 and 35.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various residential properties 
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. 
The leases typically run for an initial period of two years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as 
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are 
denominated in the respective functional currency 
of group entity. The lease contracts do not contain 
residual value guarantee or lessee’s option to purchase 
the property at the end of lease term.

15. 使用權資產

續租選擇權

資產之限制

171,799,000
238,132,000

195,256,000
266,425,000

26 35

16. 投資物業
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

HK$’000

FAIR VALUE
At 1 April 2023 8,261
Additions 28,520
Exchange adjustment (1,885)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or 

loss 259
 

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  
35,155

Disposal (653)
Exchange adjustment 342
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or 

loss (79)
 

At 31 March 2025 34,765
 

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as 
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 has been arrived at on 
the basis of a valuation carried out on the year ended 
date by GCA Professional Services Group, independent 
qual i f ied professional valuer not connected to the 
Group. The management works c lose ly  wi th the 
qualified external valuer to establish the appropriate 
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The 
management reports the f indings to the board of 
directors of the Company every half-year to explain the 
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the investment 
property.

The change in fair value, being an unrealised loss, on 
investment properties amounted to HK$159,000 (2024: 
unrealised gain of HK$259,000) during the year ended 
31 March 2025 is included in profit or loss (included in 
other gains and losses).

The valuation of Group’s investment properties at 31 
March 2025 and 2024 is derived from the basis of 
capitalisation of net income with due allowance for the 
reversionary income potential but without allowance 
for any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in 
effecting a sale, and where appropriate, cross reference 
by sales comparables.

16. 投資物業

159,000
259,000
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the 
highest and best use of the properties is their current 
use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties 
situated in Japan are classified as Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of 
Level 3 during the year.

The following table gives information about how the 
fair values of these investment properties as at 31 
March 2025 are determined (in particular, the valuation 
techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are 
categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to 
the fair value measurements is observable.

Description
Fair value 
hierarchy Valuation technique(s)

Significant 
unobservable input(s)

描述 公平值架構 估值技巧 重大不可觀察輸入數據

Investment properties 
located in Japan

Level 3 Income approach method 
assuming sale in their 
existing states and by 
taking into account of 
the current market rents 
and the reversionary 
income potential of the 
tenancies.

(i) Capitalisation rate

(ii) Prevailing market rent 
per month

3  

 

(i) 

(ii) 

16. 投資物業

3
3
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Cost of investments in unlisted 
associates 46,157 46,157

Exchange adjustments (6,581) (3,900)
Share of post-acquisition profits, 

net of dividends received 31,400 22,616
  

70,976 64,873
  

Included in the interests of investments are goodwill 
of HK$18,530,000 (2024: HK$19,270,000) arising on 
acquisition of associates.

Details of the Group’s major associates at 31 March 
2025 and 2024 are as follows:

Name of associates

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Proportion of 
voting power held Principal activity

聯營公司名稱
註冊成立及
營運地點 所有權權益比例 持有之投票權比例 主要業務

2025 2024 2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二五年

(note)

Taiwan 45% 45% 40% 40% Watch trading

Taiwan 45% 45% 40% 40% Watch trading

Taiwan 45% 45% 40% 40% Watch trading

17. 於聯營公司之權益

18,530,000
19,270,000
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17. 於聯營公司之權益

 

15%
44,500,000

10,848,000

45%

7,554,000

並非個別重大之聯營公司之合計資料

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group 
entered into the sales and purchase agreement with 
the remaining shareholders of the abovesaid associates 
in Taiwan (“Taiwan Associates”) to dispose of 15% 
equity interest at a consideration of NT$44,500,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,848,000). As such, 
the Group’s equity interest in Taiwan Associates was 
reduced to 45% and the Group continues to apply the 
equity method to account for its investment in Taiwan 
Associates. As a result, a loss on partial disposal of 
associates of HK$7,554,000 was recorded.

Aggregate information of associates that are not 
individually material

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

The Group’s share of profit and 
total comprehensive income 21,957 16,578

  

Aggregate carrying amount of 
the Group’s interests in these 
associates 70,976 64,873

  

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 
AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Cost of investments in unlisted joint 
ventures 27,117 21,794

Exchange adjustments (3,080) (2,954)
Share of post-acquisition profit 2,816 2,991

  

26,853 21,831
  

18. 於合營公司之權益及應收一間
合營公司款項
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 
AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE 
(Continued)

Amount due from a joint venture

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Amount due from a joint venture 20,911 —
  

The amount due from a joint venture is trade in nature, 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The 
following is an aged analysis of amount due from a joint 
venture of trade in nature based on the invoice date at 
the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Age 賬齡
0 to 30 days 0 30 1,108 —
31 to 60 days 31 60 902 —
61 to 90 days 61 90 3,471 —
Over 90 days 90 15,430 —

  

20,911 —
  

18. 於合營公司之權益及應收一間
合營公司款項  

應收一間合營公司款項
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 
AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE 
(Continued)

Details of the Groups’ joint ventures at 31 March 2025 
and 2024 are as follows:

Name of joint 
ventures

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Proportion of 
voting power held Principal activity

合營公司名稱
註冊成立及
營運地點 所有權權益比例 持有之投票權比例 主要業務

2025 2024 2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二五年

 
(“Huimei”) (Note 1)

1

The PRC 40% 40% 40% 40% Watch trading

SinoMoser Limited 
(“SinoMoser”)  
(Note 2)

 
2

Hong Kong 50% N/A 50% N/A Watch trading

Note 1:  The Group holds 40% of the paid-in capital of Huimei. 
Huimei is jointly controlled by the Group and the 
other substantial equity owner by virtue of contractual 
arrangements among equity owners. Therefore, Huimei 
is classified as a joint venture of the Group.

Note 2:  SinoMoser was set up during the year ended 31 March 
2025 with another equity owner and the Group has 
contributed 50% of the paid-in capital.

Included in the interest of investment is goodwil l 
of HK$3,683,000 (2024: HK$3,704,000) arising on 
acquisition of Huimei during the year ended 31 March 
2012.

18. 於合營公司之權益及應收一間
合營公司款項  

1  
40%

2  

50%

3,683,000
3,704,000
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 
AMOUNT DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE 
(Continued)

Information of the joint ventures that are not 
individually material

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

The Group’s share of loss and total 
comprehensive expense (175) (2,273)

  

Aggregated carrying amount of 
the Group’s interests in the joint 
ventures 26,853 21,831

  

19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI 

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Unlisted investments 30,720 27,835
  

Note:  The d i rectors  o f  the  Company have e lected to 
designate these investments as at FVTOCI as they 
believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in 
these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would 
not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding 
these investments for long-term purposes and realising 
their performance in the long run.

The amount of the Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI 
denominated in currencies other than funct ional 
currencies of the relevant group’s entities is set out 
below:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Swiss Fran (“CHF”) 27,425 24,588
  

18. 於合營公司之權益及應收一間
合營公司款項  

並非個別重大之合營公司之資料

19. 按公平值計入其他全面收益之
股本工具
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Listed investments
Equity securities listed in Hong 

Kong 10,581 10,915
Equity securities listed in overseas 1,226 1,311

  

11,807 12,226
Unlisted investments 19,806 18,695

  

31,613 30,921
  

Analysed as:
Current portion 11,807 12,226
Non-current portion 19,806 18,695

  

31,613 30,921
  

The amount of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL 
denominated in currencies other than funct ional 
currencies of the relevant group’s entities is set out 
below:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

United States Dollar (“US$”) 21,032 20,006
  

20. 按公平值計入損益之金融資產
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21. INVENTORIES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Watches 445,196 438,663
Accessories and parts 21,108 4,334

  

466,304 442,997
  

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Loan receivable at amortised cost 
(note a) a 65,930 54,260

Loan receivables at FVTPL (note b)
b — 21,988

  

65,930 76,248
  

The fo l lowing is  the matur i ty  prof i le  o f  the loan 
receivables at the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Repayable after one year — 54,260
Repayable within one year 65,930 21,988

  

65,930 76,248
  

21. 存貨

22. 應收貸款
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group 
entered into a preferred shares subscription agreement 
to subscribe the preferred shares of an independent third 
party (“Borrower A”) at a consideration of US$6,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$46,950,000) as the 
principal, with a cumulative annual dividend at 25% 
per annum, to finance the Borrower A’s acquisit ion 
of the equity interests in another company who has 
beneficial interest in certain properties in Vietnam and 
Indonesia (“Underlying Properties”). The consideration 
is settled by the cash payment of US$541,000 and 
the sett lement arrangement of the loan granted to 
the Borrower A in 2022 with the principal and interest 
amounting to US$5,459,000. The preferred shares 
would be redeemed at principal plus the cumulative 
dividend accrued on principal and are payable upon the 
redemption, and the redemption date should not fall 
on a date later than 24 months after the subscription 
of the preferred shares. Subsequent to the reporting 
period, the management has agreed with the Borrower 
A to extend the redemption date of the preferred shares 
by 6 months as the Borrower A is in the process of 
finalising a potential transaction with the potential buyer 
to dispose of the beneficial interest of the Underlying 
Properties. Extra time is required for the completion of 
the transaction and no change in the other contractual 
term other than the extension of the redemption date. 
As at 31 March 2025, the management expects the 
repayment of the preferred shares would be within one 
year from the reporting period end and the investment is 
classified as current assets. The investment is accounted 
for at amortised cost as the management considers the 
contractual term of the investment give rise on specified 
dates to cash flow that is solely payment of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding for both before 
and after the extension of the redemption date. It is held 
within the business model to hold the investments in 
order to collect the contractual cash flow.

The management performs the impairment assessment 
based on 12m-ECL for the investment as there is no 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
No allowance was recognised in the profit or loss after 
considering the financial positions of Borrower A.

22. 應收貸款

(a) 

6,000,000
46,950,000

25%

541,000

5,459,000

24

6 A

12
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 22 December 2022, the Group entered into a loan 
facility agreement (“Facility B”) with an independent 
third party (“Borrower B”) with an amount not exceeding 
US$2,500,000, to fund the Borrower B in acquiring 
the freehold land in Thailand through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary. The loan to Borrower B carries interest at 
fixed rate of 12% per annum and is repayable after 18 
months from the date of drawdown, with the right to 
extend the loan period up to 27 months and Borrower 
B drew down the facility in full during the year ended 31 
March 2023. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the 
Borrower B has exercised the option to extend the loan 
and the amount is expected to be repaid within 1 year. 
The shareholder of Borrower B has pledged its shares 
in Borrower B to the Group as collateral. This loan 
receivable is accounted for as FVTPL as the directors 
of the Company consider that the contractual right to 
cash flow of the loan receivable does not represent 
contractual cash flow that is solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal outstanding. As at 31 
March 2025, the amount was fully repaid during the 
year.

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Trade receivables 198,773 227,114
Less:  Allowance for credit losses (4,766) (7,872)

  

194,007 219,242
Property rental and other deposits 35,731 21,869
Advances to suppliers 1,058 5,433
Others 12,534 7,521

  

243,330 254,065
  

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contract 
with customers, net of allowance for credit losses, 
amounted to HK$262,508,000.

22. 應收貸款

(b) 

2,500,000

12% 18

27

23. 貿易及其他應收賬款

262,508,000
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
(Continued)

The Group maintains a general credit policy of not more 
than 30 days for its retails sales in department stores. 
Sales made to retail customers are mainly made on a 
cash basis. The following is an aged analysis of trade 
receivables net of allowance for credit losses based on 
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Age 賬齡
0 to 30 days 0 30 129,587 136,433
31 to 60 days 31 60 20,638 14,920
61 to 90 days 61 90 22,778 19,012
Over 90 days 90 21,004 48,877

  

194,007 219,242
  

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade 
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying 
amount of HK$64,420,000 (2024: HK$82,809,000) 
which are past due as at the report ing date. Out 
of  the past due balances,  HK$6,230,000 (2024: 
HK$32,339,000) has been past due 90 days or more. 
These balances are not considered as in default 
because historical experience indicated that such 
receivables could be recoverable from the relevant 
debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral over 
these balances.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and 
other receivables are stated in note 35.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise demand deposits 
and bank deposits held by the Group with an original 
maturity of three months or less and cash balances. 
The bank deposits carr ied effect ive interest rates 
ranging from 0.010% to 4.000% (2024: 0.125% to 
5.770%) per annum.

23. 貿易及其他應收賬款  

30

64,420,000
82,809,000

6,230,000
32,339,000 90

35

24. 現金及等同現金項目及長期銀
行存款

0.010
4.000 0.125

5.770
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

The Group’s bank deposits amounting to HK$2,187,000 
with maturity more than one year carries fixed interest 
rate of 1.7% per annum, are classified as non-current 
assets (2024: Nil).

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Trade payables 25,571 34,927
Payroll and welfare payables 100,083 110,957
Commission payables 45,181 53,639
Renovation work payables 2,344 6,237
PRC value added tax and other 

taxes payables 24,514 24,142
Property rental fee payables 11,519 11,339
Others 19,926 11,891

  

229,138 253,132
  

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables 
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Age 賬齡
0 to 60 days 0 60 24,090 32,626
61 to 90 days 61 90 33 39
Over 90 days 90 1,448 2,262

  

25,571 34,927
  

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 
days.

24. 現金及等同現金項目及長期銀
行存款

2,187,000

1.7

25. 貿易及其他應付賬款以及合約
負債

貿易及其他應付賬款

30
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Contract liabilities on sales of 
watches 2,947 6,868

  

As at 1 April 2023, contract l iabil it ies amounted to 
HK$20,677,000.

Dur ing the year  ended 31 March 2025,  revenue 
recognised in current year of HK$6,868,000 (2024: 
HK$20,677,000) was included in the contract liabilities 
balance at the beginning of the year.

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance for 
sales of watches, giving r ise to contract l iabi l i t ies 
until revenue is recognised and the contract liabilities 
decreased during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 
2024 are due to less deposits are received for the 
obligation to deliver watches to customers.

25. 貿易及其他應付賬款以及合約
負債

合約負債

20,677,000

6,868,000
20,677,000
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 83,554 132,560
Within a period of more than one 

year but not more than two 
years 66,679 67,501

Within a period of more than two 
years but not more than five 
years 45,023 66,364

  

195,256 266,425
Less:  Amount due for settlement 

with 12 months shown 
under current liabilities

12

(83,554) (132,560)
  

Amount due for settlement after 12 
months shown under non-current 
liabilities

12

111,702 133,865
  

The incremental borrowing rates appl ied to lease 
liabilities range from 2.17% to 7.19% (2024: from 2.19% 
to 7.35%) per annum.

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax 
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is 
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial 
reporting purposes:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Deferred tax assets 8,276 6,864
Deferred tax liabilities (30,038) (28,693)

  

(21,762) (21,829)
  

26. 租賃負債

2.17 7.19
2.19 7.35

27. 遞延稅項
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax (l iabil it ies) 
assets recognised and movements thereon during the 
current and prior years:

ECL
provision

of trade
receivable

Distributable
profits of

associates and
joint ventures

Distributable
profits of

subsidiaries
Right-of-use

assets
Lease

liabilities Others Total
貿易應收賬款
之預期信貸
虧損撥備

聯營公司及
合營公司

之可分派溢利
附屬公司之
可分派溢利 使用權資產 租賃負債 其他 合計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)

At 1 April 2023 1,166 (4,877) (21,285) 8,173 (8,173) 3,337 (21,659)
Exchange adjustment (83) — — (569) 569 (11) (94)
Reversal of withholding 

tax payment — 2,337 15,017 — — — 17,354
Credit (charge) to profit or 

loss 890 (3,799) (16,069) 10,055 (10,055) 1,548 (17,430)
       

At 31 March 2024 1,973 (6,339) (22,337) 17,659 (17,659) 4,874 (21,829)
Exchange adjustment (8) — — (100) 100 2 (6)
Reversal of withholding 

tax payment — 2,766 16,502 — — — 19,268
(Charge) credit to profit or 

loss (769) (4,566) (15,710) (476) 476 1,850 (19,195)
       

At 31 March 2025 1,196 (8,139) (21,545) 17,083 (17,083) 6,726 (21,762)
       

Note:  The amounts as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 
mainly represent deductible temporary differences 
arising from property, plant and equipment.

At 31 March 2025, the Group had unutilised tax losses 
of HK$722,396,000 (2024: HK$585,693,000) available 
to set off against future assessable profits. No deferred 
tax asset has been recognised in respect of these 
unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability of future 
profit stream. The tax losses of the Group at 31 March 
2025 and 2024 may be carried forward indefinitely.

27. 遞延稅項

 

722,396,000
585,693,000
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax with tax rate of 5% 
or 10% is imposed on dividends declared in respect 
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 
2008 onwards. As at 31 March 2025, deferred tax 
liabilities of HK$21,545,000 (2024: HK$22,337,000) 
has been provided for in full in respect of the temporary 
difference arising from the undistributed profits earned 
by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards 
as the directors of the Company considered that these 
subsidiaries will continue to distribute dividend in the 
foreseeable future.

Under the Taiwan tax law, withholding tax with tax rate 
of 21% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of 
profit earned by Taiwan from 2018 onwards. As at 31 
March 2025, deferred tax liabilities of HK$8,074,000 
(2024: HK$6,230,000) has been provided for in full in 
respect of the temporary difference arising from the 
undistributed profits earned by the Taiwan associates.

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Number
of shares Amount
股份數目 金額

HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0.10

Authorised:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 

and 31 March 2025

1,000,000,000 100,000
  

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 

and 31 March 2025

487,358,224 48,736
  

27. 遞延稅項

5%
10%

21,545,000
22,337,000

21%

8,074,000
6,230,000

28. 股本
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(a) 2013 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the 
annual general meeting of the Company held on 
13 August 2013, a new share option scheme was 
adopted with effect on 3 November 2013 (the 
“2013 Share Option Scheme”) after the expiry of 
the 2003 Share Option Scheme.

Under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, options 
might be granted to (i) any director, employee or 
consultant of the Group or a company in which the 
Company held an equity interest or a subsidiary of 
such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary 
trust whose discretionary objects included any 
director, employee or consultant of the Group or 
an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned 
by any director, employee or consultant of the 
Group or an Affiliate; or (iv) any customer, supplier 
or adviser whose service to the Group or business 
with the Group contributed or was expected to 
contribute to the business or operation of the 
Group. The purpose of the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme was to attract and retain quality personnel 
and other persons to provide incentive to them 
to contribute to the business and operation of 
the Group. The total number of shares available 
for issue under the 2013 Share Option Scheme 
as at 2 November 2023, the expiry date of such 
scheme, was 57,061,022 shares representing 
about 11.7% of the issued share capital of the 
Company on such date. No el ig ib le persons 
should be granted an option in any 12-month 
period for such number of shares (issued and to 
be issued) which in aggregate would exceed 1% of 
the share capital of the Company in issue on the 
last day of such 12-month period unless approval 
of the shareholders of the Company had been 
obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. The 
exercisable period was determined by the directors 
of the Company, which should not be more than 
ten years from the date of grant, and might include 
a minimum period for which the options must be 
held before it could be exercised. The exercise 
price per share payable on the exercise of an 
option equal to the highest of:

29. 以股份為基礎之付款交易

(a) 二零一三年購股權計劃

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

57,061,022

11.7%

1%
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 
(Continued)

(a) 2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(a) the nominal value of one share;

(b) the closing price per share as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on 
the date of grant; and

(c) the average closing price per share as quoted 
in the Stock Exchange’s dai ly quotations 
sheet for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of grant.

The 2013 Share Option Scheme expired on 2 
November 2023.

No option was granted, exercised, lapsed or 
forfeited under the 2013 Share Option Scheme 
since its effective date on 3 November 2013 and 
there was no outstanding share option as at 31 
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

(b) 2022 Share Award Scheme

On 27 June 2022 (the “Adopt ion Date”) ,  the 
Company adopted the employees’ share award 
scheme ( the “2022 Share Award Scheme”) . 
Pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme, it 
shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years 
commencing from the Adoption Date.

29. 以股份為基礎之付款交易  

(a) 二零一三年購股權計劃

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(b) 二零二二年股份獎勵計劃



172 Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 
(Continued)

(b) 2022 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

Under  the  2022 Share  Award Scheme,  any 
employee, executive, officer, or director of the 
Company or of  any subsid iary is  e l ig ib le for 
participation in the scheme. The purposes and 
objectives of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are 
to recognise and motivate the contributions by 
certain eligible persons and to provide them with 
incentives in order to retain them for the continual 
operation and development of the Group and to 
help the Group in attracting and recruiting suitable 
personnel as additional employees to further the 
operation and development of the Group, and to 
provide the eligible persons with a direct economic 
in terest  in  at ta in ing the long-term bus iness 
objectives of the Group. The board of directors 
shall not make any further award which will result 
in: (i) the number of shares awarded by the board 
under the scheme exceeding 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption 
Date; or ( i i ) the number of the shares held by 
publ ic shareholders fa l ls below the minimum 
percentage as prescribed under the Listing Rules. 
The maximum number of shares which may be 
awarded to each selected person under the 
scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.

Under such scheme, there is no provision on (a) 
the vesting period of awards to be granted; and (b) 
the amount payable on application or acceptance 
of the award and the period within which payments 
or calls must or may be made or loans for such 
purposes must be repaid. All these are subject 
to the discretion of the board of directors of the 
Company on the granting of an award under such 
scheme. For further details of the principal terms 
of the 2022 Share Award Scheme, please refer to 
the Company’s announcement on 27 June 2022.

29. 以股份為基礎之付款交易  

(b) 二零二二年股份獎勵計劃

(i)

10% (ii)

1%

(a)
(b)
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 
(Continued)

(b) 2022 Share Award Scheme (Continued)

The total number of awards available for grant 
under  the  2022 Share  Award  Scheme was 
48,735,822 shares both as at  1 Apr i l  2024, 
31 March 2025 and the date  o f  th is  repor t 
respectively, representing 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company as at the date of this 
report. No share award has been granted under 
the 2022 Share Award Scheme since the Adoption 
Date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, 
no share-based payment expense was recognised 
in relation to share option scheme and the 2022 
Share Award Scheme.

30. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at  31 March 2025,  the Group and the other 
shareholders of the associates of the Company issued 
financial guarantees jointly and severally to certain banks 
in respect of banking facilities granted to associates. 
The aggregate  amounts  tha t  cou ld  be requ i red 
to be paid is NT$150,000,000 and equivalent to 
HK$36,450,000 (2024: NT$150,000,000 and equivalent 
to HK$37,590,000) if the guarantees were called upon 
in entirety. As at 31 March 2025, NT$120,000,000 and 
equivalent to HK$29,160,000 (2024: NT$120,000,000 
and equivalent to HK$30,072,000) has been draw 
down by these associates. The Group considers the 
fair value of the contract is nil at initial recognition and 
the loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are 
insignificant. Details of the credit risk assessment of the 
financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 35.

29. 以股份為基礎之付款交易  

(b) 二零二二年股份獎勵計劃

48,735,822

10%

30. 財務擔保合約

150,000,000
36,450,000

150,000,000
37,590,000

120,000,000
29,160,000

120,000,000
30,072,000

35
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31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Capital expenditure in respect of 
the acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment contracted for but 
not provided in the consolidated 
financial statements 15,427 3,045

  

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participate in defined contribution retirement 
schemes for  a l l  qua l i f y ing employees,  inc lud ing 
directors.

The retirement scheme cost represents contributions 
payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in 
the rules of the schemes.

In Hong Kong, the Group part ic ipates in def ined 
cont r ibu t ion  schemes,  o f  wh ich  one scheme is 
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes 
Ordinance (the “ORSO” Scheme) and the other is 
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF” 
Scheme) established under the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those 
of the Group, in funds under the control of independent 
trustees.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions 
from both employees and the Group at rates ranging 
from 5% to 15% of the employee’s basic salary, 
depending on the length of service with the Group.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the employer and 
its employees are each required to make contributions 
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, 
subject to a monthly cap of HK$1,500.

31. 資本承擔

32. 退休福利計劃

ORSO

ORSO

5% 15%

5%
1,500
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 
(Continued)

The employees of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries 
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits 
scheme operated by the PRC government .  The 
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute 
a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement 
benef i ts  scheme to  fund the benef i ts .  The on ly 
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement 
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions 
under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$6,092,000 
(2024: HK$5,728,000) represents contributions payable 
to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the 
rules of the plans in respect of the current accounting 
period. For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, 
there were no forfeitures arising from employees leaving 
the Group prior to completion of qualifying service 
period.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no forfeited 
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the 
retirement plans and which are available to reduce the 
contributions payable in the future years.

32. 退休福利計劃  

6,092,000
5,728,000
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Bank loan
Lease

liabilities
Dividend
payable Total

銀行貸款 租賃負債 應付股息 總計
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2023 — 352,121 — 352,121
Financing cash flows (note) — (140,791) (282,668) (423,459)
Dividends declared — — 282,668 282,668
Interest accrued — 13,663 — 13,663
New leases entered or modified — 50,785 — 50,785
Termination of leases — (6,819) — (6,819)
Exchange adjustment — (2,534) — (2,534)

    

At 31 March 2024 — 266,425 — 266,425
Financing cash flows (note) (1,058) (130,908) (231,983) (363,949)
Dividends declared — — 231,983 231,983
Interest accrued 1,058 10,710 — 11,768
New leases entered or modified — 56,710 — 56,710
Termination of leases — (7,255) — (7,255)
Exchange adjustment — (426) — (426)

    

At 31 March 2025 — 195,256 — 195,256
    

Note:  The cash flows represent dividends paid, repayments 
of lease liabilities, repayment of bank loan, new bank 
loan raised and interest paid in the consol idated 
statement of cash flows.

33. 融資活動而產生之負債之對賬 
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in 
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through 
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior 
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, 
which includes lease liabilities in note 26, net of cash 
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners 
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and 
reserves including retained profits. The directors of the 
Company review the capital structure on an annual 
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class 
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, 
the Group wil l balance its overal l capital structure 
through payment of dividends, new share issues as well 
as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debts.

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost  

1,175,773 1,223,469
Financial assets at FVTPL  

31,613 30,921
Equity instruments at FVTOCI

30,720 27,835
Loan receivables at FVTPL  

— 21,988
  

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 100,077 117,863

  

34. 資本風險管理

26

35. 金融工具

金融工具類別
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major  f inanc ia l  inst ruments inc lude 
f inancia l  assets at  FVTPL, equi ty instruments at 
FVTOCI, loan receivables at FVTPL and amortised cost, 
long-term bank deposits, trade and other receivables, 
refundable property rental and other deposits, amount 
due from a joint venture, bank balances, and trade and 
other payables, and financial guarantee contracts and 
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments 
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments include market risk 
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), 
credit risk and impairment assessment, and liquidity 
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set 
out below. The management manages and monitors 
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures 
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Most of the Group’s transactions are denominated in 
either US$, CHF, HK$ and Renminbi.

The Group has l imited currency exposure as the 
majority of the sales were denominated in functional 
currencies of the relevant group entities except exposed 
to foreign currency risk in relation to US$ arising from 
financial assets at FVTPL and loan receivables, and 
CHF arising from financial assets at FVTOCI.

The carrying amount of the major foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets at the reporting date is 
as follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

US$ 40,423 96,254
CHF 27,425 24,588

  

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策

市場風險
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial 
impact on exchange difference between HK$ and US$ 
will be immaterial as US$ denominated monetary assets 
are held by group entities having HK$ as their functional 
currency, and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been 
prepared.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange 
hedging policy. However, the management conducts 
periodical review of exposure and requirements of 
various currencies, and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposures should the need arise. No 
sensitivity analysis was prepared since the directors 
of the Company consider the amount involved is not 
significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in 
relation to fixed-rate long-term bank deposits (details of 
which are set out in note 24) and lease liabilities (details 
of which are set out in note 26). The management 
monitors interest rate exposure when significant interest 
rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate 
risk in relation to bank balances (details of which are set 
out in note 24). The Group currently does not have an 
interest rate hedging policy. However, the management 
monitors interest rate exposure and wi l l  consider 
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the 
need arise. The fair value interest rate risk on bank 
deposits is insignificant as the fixed deposits are short-
term.

No sensitive analysis is performed as the exposures to 
fair value and cash flow interest rates risks for these 
items are considered as insignificant.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

市場風險

24
26

24
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL at the end of the 
reporting period exposed the Group to other price risk.

Sensitivity analysis

No sensitivity analysis has been presented because 
the Group’s net exposure to other price risk arising 
from financial assets at FVTPL is considered to be 
insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties 
default on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk 
exposures are primarily attributable to trade receivables, 
loan receivables, bank balances, refundable rental and 
other deposits, other receivables, amount due from a joint 
venture and financial guarantee contracts. The Group 
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements 
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets 
and financial guarantee contracts as disclosed in note 
30, except that the credit risks associated with loan 
receivables is mitigated after considering the underlying 
performance of the borrower and the quality of assets 
held.

Except for loan receivables at FVTPL, the Group 
performed impairment assessment for financial assets 
and other items under ECL model. Information about 
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit 
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, 
as applicable, are summarised as below.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

市場風險

信貸風險及減值評估

30
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment 
comprises the following categories:

Internal 
credit rating Description

Trade receivables and 
amount due from a 
joint venture

Other financial 
assets/other items

內部信貸評級 描述
貿易應收賬款及應收一
間合營公司款項

其他金融資產╱
其他項目

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 
and does not have any past-due 
amounts

Lifetime ECL —  
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

  — 12

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates 
but usually settles in full

Lifetime ECL —  
not credit-impaired

12m ECL

 — 12

Doubtful There have been significant increases 
in credit risk since initial recognition 
through information developed internally 
or external resources

Lifetime ECL —  
not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —  
not credit-impaired

  —  — 

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —  
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL —  
credit-impaired

 —  — 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 
the Group has no realistic prospect of 
recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off

 

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

信貸風險及減值評估
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposure of 
the Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee 
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment:

External credit rating Internal 
credit rating

12m or 
lifetime ECL

Gross carrying amount

外部信貸評級 內部信貸評級 12個月或存續期
預期信貸虧損

總賬面值

2025 2024 2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二五年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

按攤銷成本計量之 
金融資產

Bank balances  
(Note d)

 
d

24 B2 — Aa1 B2 — Aa1 N/A 12m ECL
12

834,945 894,075

Long-term bank 
deposits (Note d)

 
d

24 Aa1 N/A N/A 12m ECL
12

2,187 —

Refundable property 
rental and other 
deposits and other 
receivables

23 N/A
不適用

N/A (Note a)
a

12m ECL
12

57,793 55,892

Trade receivables 23 N/A
不適用

N/A (Note b)
b

Lifetime ECL (not-
credit-impaired)

198,773 227,114

Loan receivables 22 N/A
不適用

N/A (Note e)
e

12m ECL
12

65,930 54,260

Amount due from a joint 
venture

18 N/A
不適用

N/A (Note f)
f

Lifetime ECL (not-
credit-impaired)

20,911 —

Other item 其他項目

Financial guarantee 
contracts

30 N/A
不適用

N/A (Note c)
c

12m ECL
12

36,450 37,590

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

信貸風險及減值評估
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

(a) In determining the ECL for refundable rental and other 
deposits, and other receivables, the management of 
the Group makes periodic individual assessment on the 
recoverability of other receivables based on the historical 
default experience and forward-looking information, 
as appropriate. The directors of the Company have 
considered the consistently low historical default rate in 
connection with other general payments, and concluded 
that credit risk inherent in the Group’s other receivables 
is insignificant.

(b) The sales of the Group are mainly on cash-basis and 
the trade receivables of the Group mainly represents 
those retail sales in department stores in which those 
are reputable department stores in the PRC. The Group 
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the 
potential counterparty’s credit quality and defines credit 
limits individually. Limits and scoring attributed to the 
department stores are reviewed twice a year. Other 
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that 
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In 
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that 
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 51% 
(2024: 38%) and 76% (2024: 69%) of the total trade 
receivables was due from the Group’s largest trade 
rece ivable and the f ive largest  t rade rece ivables 
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the 
management of  the Group has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit 
approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment 
under ECL model on trade receivables individually and 
based on the internal credit risk grading assessment, 
those trade receivables with past due balances are 
grouped under watch list. The management is of the 
opinion that there has no default occurred for trade 
receivables past due 90 days or more and the balances 
are still considered recoverable due to long term/on-
going relationship and good repayment record from 
these customers.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

信貸風險及減值評估

(a) 

(b) 

51% 38%
76% 69%

90
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated by reference 
to the external credit rating and internal information, 
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost or effort. Such forward-
looking information is used by the management of the 
Group to assess both the current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The fo l lowing table shows the movement of  loss 
a l l owances  tha t  has  been  recogn ised  fo r  t rade 
receivables.

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
存續期預期信貸虧損
（非信貸減值）
2025 2024

二零二五年
HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

As at 1 April 7,872 4,653
Changes due to financial 

instruments recognised:
— Impairment losses reversed 

during the year (7,869) (4,439)
New financial assets originated 4,792 7,998
Exchange adjustment (29) (340)

  

As at 31 March 4,766 7,872
  

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there 
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

信貸風險及減值評估

(b) 
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying 
amount represents the maximum amount that the Group 
has guaranteed under the respective contracts and was 
approximately HK$36,450,000 (2024: HK$37,590,000) 
as at 31 March 2025. At the end of the report ing 
period, the directors of the Company have performed 
impairment assessment by considering the financial 
positions and performance of the relevant associates, 
and concluded that there has been no signi f icant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss 
allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued by 
the Group is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. 
The management of the Group considers the probability 
of default is low and accordingly, loss allowance was 
considered as insignificant.

(d) The Group has concentration of credit risk on long-term 
bank deposits and bank balances. The credit risk on 
long-term bank deposits and bank balances is limited 
because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(e) In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has 
reviewed the recoverable amount of the loan receivables 
at amortised cost regularly to ensure that adequate 
impairment is made for irrecoverable amounts. The 
management assesses the ECL under 12m-ECL model 
as there is no significant increase in credit risk since 
the initial recognition. The management estimates the 
estimated loss rates of loan receivables based on the 
financial position of the counterparty and considers the 
loss allowance is insignificant.

(f) The Group regularly monitors the business performance 
of the joint venture. The management assesses the 
ECL under lifetime ECL model as there is no significant 
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition and 
considered the credit risk is insignificant as the credit 
risk is mitigated through the power to jointly control the 
assets and activities of the entity.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

信貸風險及減值評估

(c) 

36,450,000
37,590,000

12

(d) 

(e) 

12

(f) 



186 Oriental Watch Holdings Limited   

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025
截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors 
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to f inance 
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 
fluctuations in cash flows.

The fol lowing table detai ls the Group’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on 
the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other 
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment 
dates. The table includes both interest and principal 
cash flows.

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

流動資金風險
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On demand
or less than

1 year

Over
1 year

but not
more than

2 years

Over
2 years
but not

more than
5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

加權平均
實際利率

按要求或
少於 1年

1年以上
但 2年內

2年以上
但 5年內

未貼現現金
流量總額 賬面值

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2025 二零二五年
Financial liabilities 金融負債
Trade and other 

payables
N/A

100,077 — — 100,077 100,077
     

Lease liabilities 4.72% 91,966 71,090 46,723 209,779 195,256
Financial guarantee 

contracts
N/A

36,450 — — 36,450 —
     

2024 二零二四年
Financial liabilities 金融負債
Trade and other 

payables
N/A

117,863 — — 117,863 117,863
     

Lease liabilities 4.69% 140,849 73,984 68,574 283,407 266,425
Financial guarantee 

contracts
N/A

37,590 — — 37,590 —
     

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

流動資金風險
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee 
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could 
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full 
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the 
counterparties to the guarantee. Based on expectations 
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be 
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate 
is subject to change depending on the probability of the 
counterparties claiming under the guarantee which is a 
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables 
held by the counterparties which are guaranteed suffer 
credit losses.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured 
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair 
values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

35. 金融工具

財務風險管理目標及政策  

流動資金風險

金融工具之公平值計量

按經常性基準以公平值計量之本集團
金融資產之公平值
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Financial assets Fair value
Fair value 
hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs

金融資產 公平值 公平值架構 估值技巧及主要輸入數據
2025 2024

二零二五年
HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

(i) Equity instruments at FVTOCI 
— unlisted investments

2,387 1,589 Level 2 Quoted market prices provided by brokers 
which are financial institutions (note)

 
— 

2

28,333 26,246 Level 3 Fair value derived by management estimation 
with reference to price to sales/price 
to earnings before interest and tax, 
depreciation, amortisation ratio of the 
industry

3

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL 
— listed investments, equity 
securities listed in Hong Kong 
and overseas

11,807 12,226 Level 1
1

Quoted bid prices in an active market

 
— 

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL — 
unlisted investments

19,806 18,695 Level 2 Quoted market prices provided by brokers 
which are financial institutions (note)

 
— 

2

(iv) Loans receivables at FVTPL — 21,988 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flow is 
estimated based on the contract interest 
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the 
credit risk of counter party

2  

35. 金融工具

金融工具之公平值計量  

按經常性基準以公平值計量之本集團
金融資產之公平值
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Note:  Quoted market prices provided by brokers which are 
financial institutions represent the fair values of the 
respective investments, based on the observable 
quoted prices of the underlying investments in an 
active market.

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy during the year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The financial assets subsequently measured at fair value 
on Level 3 fair value measurement represent equity 
instruments at FVTOCI. During the year ended 31 March 
2025, there are no purchase of equity instruments at 
FVTOCI (2024: HK$22,126,000), no disposal of equity 
instruments at FVTOCI (2024: HK$3,085,000) and gain 
on change in fair value of HK$2,885,000 (2024: loss 
on change in fair value of HK$4,565,000) has been 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Out of the 
total gains or losses for the period included in profit 
or loss, HK$2,885,000 (2024: HK$3,690,000) relates 
to equity instruments at FVTOCI held at the end of the 
current reporting period.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying 
amounts of f inancial assets and financial l iabil it ies 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial 
statements approximate to their fair values.

35. 金融工具

金融工具之公平值計量  

按經常性基準以公平值計量之本集團
金融資產之公平值

 

第3級公平值計量對賬

3

22,126,000

3,085,000
2,885,000

4,565,000

2,885,000
3,690,000
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of 
which are limited liability companies, at 31 March 2025 
and 2024 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operations

Issued and fully paid share capital/
registered and paid-up capital

Proportion of nominal value of issued capital/
registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

附屬公司名稱
註冊成立╱
登記╱經營地點 已發行及繳足股本╱註冊及已繳資本 本公司所持已發行股本面值╱註冊資本之比例 主要業務

Directly Indirectly
直接 間接

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二五年 二零二五年

% % % %

La Suisse Watch Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$1,000

Ordinary shares
HK$1,000

100 100 — — Watch trading

普通股 1,000港元 1,000

Oriental Watch (China) Company 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$1,000

Ordinary shares
HK$1,000

— — 100 100 Watch trading and investment 
holding

普通股 1,000港元 1,000

Oriental Watch Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$2,000

Ordinary shares
HK$2,000

100 100 — — Watch trading

普通股 2,000港元 2,000

Oriental Watch (Macau) Company 
Limited

Macau Ordinary shares
MOP$25,000

Ordinary shares
MOP$25,000

50 50 50 50 Watch trading

普通股 25,000澳門元 25,000

Cathay Watch Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$2,000

Ordinary shares
HK$2,000

100 100 — — Watch trading

普通股 2,000港元 2,000

Sharp Beauty Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share
HK$1

Ordinary share
HK$1

— — 100 100 Investment holding

普通股 1港元 1

Unex Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$2

Ordinary shares
HK$2

— — 100 100 Property holding

普通股 2港元 2

Eastfair Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$1

Ordinary shares
HK$1

100 100 — — Securities investment

普通股 1港元 1

Fully Field Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares
HK$8

Ordinary shares
HK$8

100 100 — — Property holding

普通股 8港元 8

 
(Oriental Watch (China)  
Trading Co., Ltd.)

The PRC (note) Registered and
paid-up capital
US$54,000,000

Registered and
paid-up capital

US$54,000,000

— — 100 100 Watch trading

註冊及已繳資本
54,000,000美元 54,000,000

Japan Ordinary shares
JPY10,000,000

Ordinary shares
JPY10,000,000

100 100 — — Property investment

普通股10,000,000日圓 10,000,000

Note:  These companies were established in the PRC in the 
form of wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

36. 主要附屬公司
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company 
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
pr inc ipa l l y  a f fected the resu l ts  or  assets  o f  the 
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, 
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of 
excessive length.

None of the subsidiar ies had any debt secur i t ies 
outstanding at the end of the year, or at any time during 
the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has 
other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. 
A majority of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong, 
the PRC and Taiwan. The principal activities of these 
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
主要業務 主要業務地點 附屬公司數目

2025 2024
二零二五年

Watch trading Hong Kong
1 1

  

Investment holding Hong Kong
6 6

  

Inactive Hong Kong
8 8

Taiwan
1 1

  

9 9
  

16 16
  

36. 主要附屬公司
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel are the directors of 
the Company. The remuneration of directors during the 
year was as follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Short-term benefits 88,105 110,606
Post-employment benefits 1,260 1,181

  

89,365 111,787
  

The remunerat ion o f  d i rectors  is  determined by 
the remunerat ion committee having regard to the 
performance of individuals and market trends.

Amount due from a Joint Venture

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Amount due from a joint venture 20,911 —
  

The amount due from a joint venture is trade in nature, 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

37. 有關連人士交易

主要管理層人員之補償

應收一間合營公司款項
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY

2025 2024
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

Non-current assets 非流動資產
Property, plant and equipment 116 145
Investments in subsidiaries 619,279 619,279
Equity instruments at FVTOCI  

2,387 1,589
  

621,782 621,013
  

Current assets 流動資產
Amounts due from subsidiaries 629,265 629,034
Bank balances and cash 1,838 1,259
Financial assets at FVTPL  

1,200 600
  

632,303 630,893
  

Current liabilities 流動負債
Other payables 71,648 81,589
Amounts due to subsidiaries 618,761 527,064

  

690,409 608,653
  

Net current (liabilities) assets 流動（負債）資產淨值 (58,106) 22,240
  

Net assets 資產淨值 563,676 643,253
  

Capital and reserves 資本及儲備
Share capital 48,736 48,736
Reserves (note (a)) (a) 514,940 594,517

  

Total equity 權益總額 563,676 643,253
  

38. 本公司之財務狀況表
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

(a) Movements of the Company’s reserves during the 
current and the prior years are as follows:

Share
premium

Capital
redemption

reserve
Contributed

surplus

Asset
revaluation

reserve
Retained

profits
Dividend

reserve Total
股份溢價 資本贖回儲備 繳入盈餘 資產重估儲備 保留溢利 股息儲備 合計
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2023 303,250 425 122,183 3,601 16,696 143,771 589,926
Profit for the year — — — — 288,134 — 288,134
Change in fair value of equity 

instruments at FVTOCI
 

— — — (875) — — (875)       

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year — — — (875) 288,134 — 287,259

2023 final dividend paid — — — — — (36,552) (36,552)
2023 special dividend paid — — — — — (107,219) (107,219)
2024 interim dividend declared/paid — — — — (34,115) — (34,115)
2024 interim special dividend 

declared/paid — — — — (104,782) — (104,782)
2024 final dividend proposed — — — — (28,267) 28,267 —
2024 special dividend proposed — — — — (83,826) 83,826 —
Disposal of equity instruments at 

FVTOCI
 

— — — (1,825) 1,825 — —       

At 31 March 2024 303,250 425 122,183 901 55,665 112,093 594,517
Profit for the year — — — — 151,608 — 151,608
Change in fair value of equity 

instruments at FVTOCI
 

— — — 798 — — 798       

Total comprehensive income for the 
year — — — 798 151,608 — 152,406

2024 final dividend paid — — — — — (28,267) (28,267)
2024 special dividend paid — — — — — (83,826) (83,826)
2025 interim dividend declared/paid — — — — (29,729) — (29,729)
2025 interim special dividend 

declared/paid — — — — (90,161) — (90,161)
2025 final dividend proposed — — — — (20,469) 20,469 —
2025 special dividend proposed — — — — (60,920) 60,920 —       

At 31 March 2025 303,250 425 122,183 1,699 5,994 81,389 514,940       

The contr ibuted surp lus arose as a resu l t  o f  the 
d i f f e rence  be tween  the  agg rega te  ne t  t ang ib l e 
assets of the subsidiaries by the Company and the 
nominal amount of the Company’s shares which were 
issued to acquire those subsidiaries under the group 
reorganisation in 1993.

38. 本公司之財務狀況表  

(a) 
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2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

RESULTS 業績

Revenue 3,504,022 3,639,774 3,704,677 3,638,758 3,449,857
     

Profit before taxation 355,736 513,437 440,058 396,474 336,555
Income tax expense (123,112) (150,461) (144,534) (145,324) (136,064)

     

Profit for the year 232,624 362,976 295,524 251,150 200,491
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the 

Company 233,256 362,574 295,432 250,488 200,496
Non-controlling 

interests (632) 402 92 662 (5)
     

Profit for the year 232,624 362,976 295,524 251,150 200,491
     

At 31 March
於三月三十一日

 

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
二零二五年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元

ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES

資產及負債

Total assets 2,727,530 2,879,275 2,619,258 2,387,475 2,243,513
Total liabilities (736,981) (843,108) (723,327) (591,508) (488,731)

     

1,990,549 2,036,167 1,895,931 1,795,967 1,754,782
     

Equity attributable 
to owners of the 
Company 1,991,495 2,035,007 1,894,745 1,794,170 1,753,039

Non-controlling 
interests (946) 1,160 1,186 1,797 1,743

     

1,990,549 2,036,167 1,895,931 1,795,967 1,754,782
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